

## UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL FLUMINENSE ESCOLA DE ENGENHARIA PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ENGENHARIA ELÉTRICA E DE TELECOMUNICAÇÕES

## CAROLINA CUNHA DE MENEZES

# Metaverse Framework for Power Systems: Proposal and Case Study of a Solar Power Plant

NITERÓI 2024

#### UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL FLUMINENSE ESCOLA DE ENGENHARIA PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ENGENHARIA ELÉTRICA E DE TELECOMUNICAÇÕES

## CAROLINA CUNHA DE MENEZES

# Metaverse Framework for Power Systems: Proposal and Case Study of a Solar Power Plant

Dissertação de Mestrado apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Engenharia Elétrica e de Telecomunicações da Universidade Federal Fluminense como requisito parcial para a obtenção do título de Mestre em Engenharia Elétrica e de Telecomunicações. Área de concentração: Sistemas de Energia Elétrica.

Orientadora: Yona Lopes

Co-orientador: Bruno França

> NITERÓI 2024

#### Ficha catalográfica automática - SDC/BEE Gerada com informações fornecidas pelo autor

Г

M541m	Menezes, Carolina Cunha de Metaverse Framework for Power Systems : Proposal and Case Study of a Solar Power Plant / Carolina Cunha de Menezes 2024. 98 f.: il.
	Orientador: Yona Lopes. Coorientador: Bruno Wanderley França. Dissertação (mestrado)-Universidade Federal Fluminense, Escola de Engenharia, Niterói, 2024.
	<ol> <li>Energia solar. 2. Digitalização. 3. SCADA (Programa de computador). 4. Produção intelectual. I. Lopes, Yona, orientadora. II. Wanderley França, Bruno, coorientador. III. Universidade Federal Fluminense. Escola de Engenharia. IV. Título.</li> </ol>
	CDD - XXX

Bibliotecário responsável: Debora do Nascimento - CRB7/6368

#### CAROLINA CUNHA DE MENEZES

#### METAVERSE FRAMEWORK FOR POWER SYSTEMS: PROPOSAL AND CASE STUDY OF A SOLAR POWER PLANT

Dissertação de Mestrado apresentada ao Programa de Pós Graduação em Engenharia Elétrica e de Telecomunicações da Universidade Federal Fluminense como requisito parcial para a Obtenção do Grau de Mestre em Engenharia Elétrica e de Telecomunicações.

Área de concentração: Sistemas de Energia Elétrica.

BANCA EXAMINADORA Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Yona Lopes - Orientadora Universidade Federal Fluminense - UFF Prof. Dr. Bruno Wanderley França-Coorientador Universidade Federal Fluminense - UFF Prof. Dr. Gilberto Figueiredo Pinto Filho Universidade Federal Fluminense - UFF Prof. Dr. Daniel Henrique Nogueira Dias Universidade Federal Fluminense - UFF arema Prof. Dr. Hélio do Nascimento Cunha Neto Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro - UERJ

Niterói (Julho/2024)

To all the women in science who defied the status quo and led the way forward, inspiring many others.

# Acknowledgement

In developing this thesis, I have been fortunate to find amazing people who inspired and guided me. I am profoundly grateful to Prof. Yona Lopes for showing me the innovative potential within the electrical sector. She has always stayed positive and has constantly encouraged me to think outside the box. I am also deeply thankful to Prof. Bruno França for his unwavering trust and for helping me find my way throughout this journey. Finally, I extend my heartfelt thanks to my family for their love and encouragement. Their belief in me has been a constant source of strength, motivating me to strive for excellence and persevere through challenges. Lastly, I'd like to thank all my friends and colleagues who were always open to helping, lightening, and enriching this journey with joy.

# Resumo

 $\dot{A}$  medida que o setor elétrico evolui em direção à sustentabilidade, métodos convencionais de gestão de energia, baseados em sistemas centralizados, apresentam dificuldade em aproveitar a incorporação acelerada de fontes alternativas de energia na rede. Em particular, a introdução de usinas solares no sistema implica em mudanças no perfil do consumidor, bem como complexidades relacionadas a configurações distribuídas e padrões intermitentes de geração de energia. Consequentemente, uma mudança correspondente nas estratégias de gestão de energia faz-se necessária. Neste contexto, soluções como gêmeos digitais e metaversos industriais são capazes de fornecer um ambiente digital integrado para experimentação e análise de sistemas de potência. Não obstante, o desenvolvimento de tais aplicações no setor elétrico ainda é preliminar, exigindo maiores investigações. Em vista disso, este trabalho propõe uma nova arquitetura para o desenvolvimento de metaversos industriais de sistemas de potência. Esta arquitetura adota a modularidade como um princípio fundamental, permitindo a expansão da aplicação de acordo com os serviços desejados. Em seguida, para ilustrar a viabilidade da arquitetura proposta, uma aplicação de um metaverso industrial é apresentada, utilizando o Unity como plataforma de desenvolvimento e OPC-UA (do inglês, Open Platform Communications - Unified Architecture) como o principal protocolo de comunicação de dados. Para isso, uma usina solar, localizada no Centro Experimental da Universidade Federal Fluminense (UFF) em Iguaba Grande, é considerada. A aplicação demonstra a eficácia da arquitetura proposta, fornecendo uma visualização 3D do sistema, dados em tempo real do sistema SCADA (do inglês, Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition), além da integração com um sistema de detecção de falhas em Python. Deste modo, este trabalho busca inspirar a adoção de metaversos industriais e gêmeos digitais na gestão de sistemas de potência, promovendo uma abordagem mais moderna e digitalizada.

**Palavras-chave**: Gêmeo Digital, Metaverso, Realidade Aumentada, Realidade Virtual, Sistemas de Potência

# Abstract

As the energy landscape evolves towards sustainability, conventional energy management methodologies, primarily designed for centralized power systems, struggle to harness the full potential of renewable energy production. In particular, the expansion of solar power plants introduces changes in the energy consumer profile, as well as complexities related to managing their distributed settings and energy production patterns. As a result, a corresponding change in energy management strategies becomes critical. In this context, the energy metaverse provides stakeholders with an integrated digital ecosystem that allows for experimentation and analysis of complex power systems. However, developing and implementing such applications within the energy sector still requires further research. This work raises this discussion and proposes an architectural framework for developing specialized metaverse applications of photovoltaic power plants. The framework embraces modularity as a core principle, allowing the expansion of the application according to diverse services and needs. In the following, a case study is presented to illustrate the feasibility of the proposed framework using Unity as a development platform and Open Platform Communications - Unified Architecture (OPC-UA) for data communication. A power plant located in the UFF Experimental Center of Iguaba Grande is considered. The application demonstrates the efficacy of the proposed framework by providing a 3D visualization of the system, real-time data from Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA), a fault detection system, and weather forecasts. This way, this work aims to inspire further exploration and adoption of the metaverse and digital twins in photovoltaic systems, fostering a more modern and digitalized approach to energy management and development.

**Keywords**: Augmented Reality, Digital Twin, Metaverse, Power Systems, Virtual Reality.

# List of Figures

1.1	Milestones of the metaverse, DTs, and XR technologies over the decades.	4
2.1	Venn diagram presenting the enabling technologies for the metaverse	9
2.2	Twinning process considering different levels of digital representation	12
2.3	A high-level representation of a DT	13
2.4	Simplified representation of a reality-virtuality continuum (adapted from [8])	14
2.5	Examples of video see-through and optical see-through AR displays	16
2.6	Examples of marker-based, sensor-based, and computer vision-based AR tracking methods.	17
2.7	Relationship between the metaverse, DT, VR, and AR technologies	18
2.8	Examples of XR and DT applications in power systems	21
2.9	Radar chart mapping article distribution across application fields	22
2.10	Overview of development tools employed in the reviewed publications for developing AR, VR, and DT solutions.	25
2.11	Overview of technical challenges found in the reviewed publications for developing AR, VR, and DT solutions.	27
2.12	Number of journal publications containing the terms "augmented reality," "mixed reality," "virtual reality," "digital twin," and "metaverse" by year. Cut-off date: April, 2023	32
2.13	Ishikawa diagram illustrating the requirements for the widespread adoption of the metaverse in power systems.	34
3.1	Proposed industrial metaverse framework for power systems	37
3.2	UML component diagram illustrating the architectural structure of the sys- tem, indicating the interactions and dependencies between key components.	38

3.3	UML sequence diagram illustrating the interactions between the SCADA system, the IEC 61850 driver, the OPC-UA server, and the metaverse application.	41
3.4	UML sequence diagram illustrating the interactions between the OPC-UA server, a backend service, and the metaverse application.	42
3.5	UML component diagram for a multi-user industrial metaverse application accessible via XR devices.	43
4.1	Single-line diagram of the photovoltaic power plant	47
4.2	Metaverse project implementation process	48
4.3	Topology of the testbed environment	50
4.4	Architecture of the industrial metaverse application	51
4.5	Node-RED flow used to set up an OPC-UA server.	53
4.6	IEC 61850 data mapped into OPC-UA	53
4.7	Node modeling for the SCADA system	54
4.8	Design of the OPC-UA driver within Elipse E3	55
4.9	OPC-UA data modeling for IEC 61850 current values	56
4.10	Interface of the Unity game engine.	58
5.1	Metaverse navigation with tooltips being displayed to enhance situational awareness	63
5.2	Dynamic lighting conditions based on the current time	63
5.3	Metaverse interface presenting real-time data from the SCADA system, enabled by the OPC-UA communication layer.	64
5.4	Latency logs, comparing the server and client timestamps	65
5.5	Latency analysis showing data transmission between the Python applica- tion and Node-RED OPC-UA server.	66
5.6	Metaverse interface during a fault state. Animations are used to indicate the status of the solar panel strings	67
5.7	Administrator panel within the metaverse application, displaying weather information obtained from the OpenWeather API	67

# List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

AI	Artificial Intelligence	5
AR	Augmented Reality	1
AV	Augmented Virtuality	15
API	Application Programming Interface	40
AC	Alternating Current	46
BIM	Building Information Modeling	13
DT	Digital Twin	1
DC	Direct Current	46
FBX	Filmbox	58
GIS	Geographic Information System	23
HMD	Head-mounted display	15
HIL	Hardware-in-the-Loop	37
HTTP	Hypertext Transfer Protocol	40
IEC	International Electrotechnical Commission	38
IoT	Internet of Things	1
IaaS	Infrastructure as a Service	44
IED	Intelligent Electronic Device	49
LiDAR	Light Detection and Ranging	13
ML	Machine Learning	1
MMS	Manufacturing Message Specification	49
NFT	Non-Fungible Token	10
OHS	Occupational Health and Safety	19
OPC-UA	Open Platform Communications - Unified Architecture	38
ReLU	Rectified Linear Unit	56

REST	Representational State Transfer	10
SEL	Schweitzer Engineering Laboratories	19
SCADA	Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition	6
SLAM	Simultaneous Localization and Mapping	Ι7
SDK	Software Development Kit	24
$\mathbf{TCP}/\mathbf{IP}$	Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol	10
UFF	Universidade Federal Fluminense	2
UML	Unified Modeling Language	11
VR	Virtual Reality	1
XR	Extended Reality	1

# Contents

1	Intr	oducti	on	1									
	1.1	Backg	round	2									
	1.2	Motivation and Related Work											
	1.3												
		1.3.1	Primary Objectives	6									
		1.3.2	Secondary Objectives	6									
	1.4	Disser	tation Structure	7									
<b>2</b>	Lite	erature	Review	8									
	2.1	Theor	etical Foundations and Concepts	8									
		2.1.1	Metaverse	9									
		2.1.2	Digital Twin	11									
		2.1.3	Extended Reality	14									
		2.1.4	Comparative Analysis Between Technologies	17									
	2.2	Applic	eations in the Energy Sector	19									
	2.3	Softwa	are and Development Tools	23									
	2.4	Techn	ical Challenges and Literature Gaps	26									
		2.4.1	Hardware limitations	26									
		2.4.2	Development limitations	28									
		2.4.3	Lack of specialized solutions	29									
	2.5	Barrie	rs and Motivations for Adoption	31									

3	Met	taverse Framework Proposal													
	3.1	Real-Time Data Integration and Interoperability													
		3.1.1 OPC-UA	38												
		3.1.2 IEC 61850													
	3.2	Decoupled Interface	39												
		3.2.1 Connectors													
		3.2.2 User Experience Design													
	3.3	Observability													
	3.4	Cloud-infrastructure and Cybersecurity	44												
4	$\operatorname{Cas}$	se Study													
	4.1	Case Study Specification	46												
	4.2	Methodology	47												
	4.3	Industrial Metaverse Application Architecture	49												
		4.3.1 Hardware	49												
		4.3.2 Software	50												
	4.4	Implementation Process	52												
		4.4.1 Real-time Data Communication Layer	52												
		4.4.1.1 SCADA System	54												
		4.4.1.2 Fault Detection System	55												
		4.4.2 Unity Development													
		4.4.2.1 Simulation Scene	58												
		4.4.2.2 $C \#$ Scripting	59												
		OPC-UA Client Configuration	60												
		REST API Integration	61												

References								
Suggestions for Future Research	71							
nclusions	70							
Discussions and Study Limitations	68							
OpenWeather Data Integration	66							
Fault Detection System	66							
SCADA	65							
Real-time Data Acquisition	64							
User Interface	62							

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

The convergence of digitalization, decentralization, and decarbonization of the energy sector has prompted a paradigm shift in power systems' infrastructure [1]. While the introduction of renewable energy sources into the grid has been paramount in decarbonization goals, their integration into existing systems has brought unique challenges related to their decentralized and intermittent nature. At the same time, digitalization has become a strategic enabler in managing and optimizing these fluctuations. By bridging the gap between physical and virtual worlds, technologies like Internet of Things (IoT) and Machine Learning (ML) opened up previously unimaginable possibilities and opportunities for the energy sector [2]. For instance, advanced IoT can collect data from solar panels, while ML algorithms can help optimize energy usage and identify areas of energy waste. Going ahead, there is an increasing interest in developing solutions that leverage these technologies to provide accurate representations of reality, such as industrial metaverses and Digital Twins (DTs) [3, 4]. These applications can provide a dynamic and interactive way to monitor, analyze, and simulate the behavior of power systems. In light of this, this dissertation explores the application of industrial metaverses in the energy sector, aiming to establish a new methodology for their development and implementation.

An industrial metaverse application is a virtual environment where DTs, Extended Reality (XR), and IoT technologies can converge to provide a collaborative platform for enhanced decision-making processes. Nonetheless, developing metaverse and DT applications in power systems remains relatively unexplored. Details about the specific software, hardware, communication protocols, and methodology employed in such implementations are missing. Moreover, research and development in this area is also challenging due to its multidisciplinary nature and the blurred boundaries between concepts like the metaverse, DT, XR, Augmented Reality (AR), and Virtual Reality (VR). Given the above, the primary objectives of this dissertation are twofold. First, it seeks to develop a framework for creating industrial metaverse applications for power systems. This framework embraces modularity as a guiding principle, breaking down the application into smaller and manageable packaged business capabilities. Second, the dissertation aims to demonstrate the feasibility of this framework through a practical case study. To this end, it considers a solar power plant located in the Universidade Federal Fluminense (UFF) Experimental Center of Iguaba Grande. In addition to testing the framework, this case study has an educational purpose. It aims to give students a practical learning tool to understand solar power generation and operating behavior remotely within a virtual environment.

The methodology employed in this work consists of an extensive review and analysis of the literature followed by the development of the new framework. Eighty-five studies meticulously selected from a pool of 1523 records are investigated. The subsequent analysis maps article distribution across different application fields, identifies current software and development tools, and examines barriers and motivations for adoption. In the following, considering the findings derived from this review, a new framework for developing industrial metaverse applications for power systems is proposed. Finally, the implementation of the case study comprises developing a project plan and applying the suggested framework.

Finally, the significance of this work lies in promoting the adoption of industrial metaverses and DTs in the energy sector and contributing to the ongoing digitalization of the grid. It considers a scenario of increased complexity and demand for advanced tools to manage and optimize modern power grids.

### 1.1 Background

To better understand the unique value and capabilities of industrial metaverses in power systems, it is essential to investigate and clarify their differences from other similar concepts that have gained significant attention in recent years, such as DT, XR, AR, and VR. Given this context, this section provides a preliminary overview and brief historical context of industrial metaverses and related concepts to facilitate a more informed engagement with the subsequent chapters.

The term "metaverse", which once was restricted to gaming and science fiction, has gained attention from various distinct sectors, especially after the Facebook rebrand as Meta [5]. According to [6], although the metaverse is usually associated with entertainment applications, many analysts have debated that the metaverse's true transformative potential is more likely to be achieved in the industrial context. An industrial metaverse can be understood as a virtual, interconnected digital platform where people can interact with mirrored real-world machines and systems through avatars and immersive tools. In the energy sector, for example, energy companies can use the metaverse to simulate and optimize their operations, while researchers and policymakers can experiment and evaluate new regulatory frameworks and business models before their practical implementation in the physical world [3].

In contrast, a DT is a digital replica that mirrors the physical characteristics and behavior of real-world equipment by reading and interpreting data from various sources [7]. They provide a high degree of fidelity to a reference model and allow bidirectional interaction flows, often aiming for focused optimization efforts of an individual component or equipment, such as a solar panel or inverter. More specifically, considering the challenges posed by the variability and uncertainty associated with renewable energy sources, DTs can enable easier identification and response to grid disturbances, optimization of energy usage, and efficient demand management [2].

Finally, XR is an umbrella term for technologies that allow users to have immersive experiences either by completely entering a virtual environment (VR) or simply by providing a merged view of real and virtual elements (AR) [8]. In this sense, both VR and AR can provide a more intuitive and immersive way for training and education purposes, enabling operators to practice handling complex situations in a safe and controlled environment [9]. In addition, AR may also support on-field decision-making processes by providing an enhanced view of reality with superimposed real-time data from equipment.

Given this context, it is possible to say that these technologies converge in the sense that a DT may be a type of content found in an industrial metaverse, whereas AR and VR technologies may be used as a means to access the metaverse or even a DT [10]. Moreover, it is essential to highlight the relevance of these technologies, particularly considering the following years, as they are likely to continue shaping how we live, work, and interact with one another [10]. In this sense, although these ideas are not entirely new, only in recent years have technological advancements allowed us to move away from an imagination era, in which concepts were theorized and conceptualized, to a new era of implementation and adoption.

Fig. 1.1 summarizes some key milestones related to these technologies. It can be ob-



Figure 1.1: Milestones of the metaverse, DTs, and XR technologies over the decades.

served, from earlier years, the development of experimental VR headsets, the theorization of virtual and augmented realities, and the ideation of the metaverse in Neal Stephenson's science novel [8, 9]. In the following years, up until the 2010s, the technical foundations started to be built. However, technical limitations and lack of social acceptance led to a lack of mainstream adoption and a trough of disillusionment with AR and VR [9]. Despite that, recent democratization and developments in several important areas for the evolution of these technologies have sparked a new wave of innovation and acceptance [8].

### 1.2 Motivation and Related Work

The implementation of industrial metaverses and DTs in power systems can serve multiple purposes, from energy management to load scheduling and performance monitoring. Since studies on industrial metaverses are still preliminary and mostly conceptual, this section overviews relevant articles on DT case studies for solar power systems and emphasizes the distinctive features that set this study's approach apart.

Addressing the intricacies of microgrid energy management, studies such as that by [11] and [12] emphasize the use of DTs for managing the integration of various distributed energy resources, like solar panels, wind turbines, and energy storage, to meet local demand within a microgrid. In [11], the authors propose a DT-based distributed energy management system for formulating and solving optimal power flow problems. Unlike traditional methods, which assume accurate load predictions, the system proposed by [11] considers stochastic loads and employs probabilistic models. Simulation results demonstrate the system's effectiveness in both grid-connected and islanded modes, providing resilience to communication failures. Similarly, [12] uses an improved pigeon-inspired optimization algorithm to solve the cost-effective daily dispatch scheme for hybrid energy production, optimizing energy storage charge and discharge planning. Lastly, [13] focuses on smart home communities, proposing a fog-driven energy management system DT to optimize power sharing among users, reducing costs and reliance on imported power.

Considering demand response programs and small domestic consumers utilizing photovoltaic power, [14] proposes a multi-layered DT that uses reinforcement learning to solve decision-making problems in load scheduling, taking into consideration aspects such as user satisfaction, stochastic parameters, and tariffs. Furthermore, a series of case studies focusing on load forecasting were also found in the literature. For example, [15] proposes a rapid and precise short-term load prediction layout for smart grid market applications, addressing the challenge of predicting electrical loads due to users' nonlinear and random behavior. In contrast, [16] proposes a novel evolving-based prediction model for accurate short-term load forecasting in solar-based smart grids that aims to support decisions about the deployment of photovoltaic energy systems in a smart grid and maximize energy production.

Moreover, still concerning prediction capabilities, [17] proposes a solar irradiance forecasting model using Artificial Intelligence (AI) and ML techniques, taking into account factors like temperature, cloudiness index, and relative humidity. Besides demonstrating high accuracy and potential for enhancing solar irradiance predictions, the authors suggest that the proposed solution could support the development of DT models for positive energy districts and smart buildings. However, specific details on the implementation and integration of the model within DT frameworks are not provided. Lastly, a fault diagnosis DT for photovoltaic energy systems is proposed by [18]. The solution leverages the sensing, computation, and actuation capabilities of the converter and uses a real-time model-based estimation of the system to compare the estimated and measured outputs for fault diagnosis.

Despite the innovative strategies for solving the current challenges the photovoltaic energy sector faces, the existing literature presents gaps concerning development frameworks of DT and industrial metaverse for photovoltaic power systems. For example, details about the specific software, hardware, and communication protocols used in DT implementations and a more holistic approach are missing. Moreover, the current literature focuses on the model-based design and simulation algorithms tailored to solving scoped issues. Other characteristics, such as integration with spatial and graphical models and streaming real-time data, were not addressed. In this regard, this work distinguishes itself from the existing literature by focusing on a framework for developing a holistic metaverse of photovoltaic power systems. Therefore, while previous studies have laid the groundwork for improving the representation of photovoltaic power systems in specific domains, the tailored framework described in Chapter 3 aims to provide the big picture of how these isolated systems can communicate to form a high-level digital representation of photovoltaic power systems.

## **1.3** Research Scope and Objectives

The scope of this work encompasses the development and application of industrial metaverses within the context of power systems. This proposal is inherently multidisciplinary. Collaboration between professionals in electrical engineering, computer science, data analytics, and cybersecurity is crucial. Delving deeply into all aspects that compose these applications exceeds the scope of this study. In this sense, this work's main focus is on defining key components and laying the foundation for future exploration of industrial metaverses in power systems. To provide a structured approach to this work, the objectives are divided into two main categories: primary and secondary objectives.

#### **1.3.1** Primary Objectives

- Provide a framework for developing metaverse applications for power systems.
- Demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed framework through a practical case study, considering the solar power plant located in the UFF Experimental Center of *Iguaba Grande*, and therefore provide an educational and controlled platform for monitoring and testing the system.

#### 1.3.2 Secondary Objectives

• Integrate real-time data from the Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) system into the industrial metaverse application, facilitating ongoing monitoring and analysis.

- Integrate a fault detection system within the industrial metaverse application to enhance operational reliability and test the framework's modularity capability.
- Provide a 3D scene, allowing stakeholders to interact with a virtual representation of the solar power plant.
- Provide an administrator panel as a central hub for system management.
- Employ open-source tools and adhere to standardized protocols to ensure interoperability within the application.
- Make the application public on Github<sup>1</sup> and employ open-source practices to provide a resource that supports and advances future research and learning in the field.

## 1.4 Dissertation Structure

This dissertation is organized into six chapters, as described below:

- Chapter 1 Introduction: Provides an overview of the research background, problem statement, and the objectives of the study. It also outlines the scope and significance of the research and presents the structure of the dissertation.
- Chapter 2 Literature Review: Identifies gaps in the literature and provides the theoretical foundations that underpin the new framework.
- Chapter 3 Industrial Metaverse Framework: Introduces the new framework for developing industrial metaverse applications for power systems. It details the components, design, architecture, and key features of the framework.
- Chapter 4: Case Study: Presents the methodology and application of the case study. It provides an introduction to the case study and implementation details.
- Chapter 5: Results and Analysis: Evaluates the framework based on its application in the case study. It presents the results and findings and analyzes the framework's suitability.
- Chapter 6: Conclusion: Summarizes the key findings of the research, highlights the contributions to the field, and discusses the practical implementation of the framework. It also outlines potential directions for future research and offers concluding remarks.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ Available at https://github.com/FriendsLabUFF/industrial-metaverse

# Chapter 2

# Literature Review

This chapter delves into the theoretical foundations and main concepts of industrial metaverses and related technologies, such as DTs and XR. In the following, the results of a systematic literature review, named "A Survey on Extended Reality, Digital Twins, and Metaverse Applications in Power Systems," submitted to the "IEEE Internet of Things" journal, are presented. More details about the specific methodology and search selection are available in Section III of the paper. The systematic literature reviews 85 relevant studies selected from an initial pool of 1523 records. Further analyses of the selected articles provide an overview of current advancements, challenges, and gaps in the application of these technologies in the energy sector.

## 2.1 Theoretical Foundations and Concepts

Industrial metaverses, DTs, and XR are terms often confused due to their similarities in providing virtual representations of reality. These technologies, however, offer different immersion and interaction levels, each with unique features and benefits that make them more suitable for specific types of power system applications. For example, a complex platform such as the metaverse may not be necessary to solve a particular problem that a more straightforward AR implementation could solve. Hence, carefully considering the requirements of each application and selecting the most appropriate technology can save both time and resources. The following subsections cover the foundation of each technology mentioned in more detail.

#### 2.1.1 Metaverse

While the idea of the "metaverse" emerged in science fiction and gained initial attention in the gaming and social media sectors, its potential is increasing traction across several industries [5]. With an emphasis on facilitating social interactions and collaboration, interconnected virtual environments, ranging from highly realistic simulations to fantastical realms, are central to the metaverse's architecture. In this context, avatars play a significant role as digital personas that reflect a user's appearance, preferences, and personality [8]. Another defining feature of the metaverse is its continuity and persistence, meaning that alterations and interactions between avatars and assets have lasting effects over time [8]. This characteristic also allows a new, intricate economic landscape where transactions are facilitated by virtual currencies and blockchain [19].

Moreover, in [6], the authors further compare the idea of industrial metaverses with the "consumer metaverse." According to the authors, the "consumer metaverse" focuses on entertainment and socialization and is not populated with data from the physical world. Industrial metaverses, in contrast, mirror real elements, such as machines, grids, cities, and logistics processes, to provide detailed analysis and simulations, and support decisionmaking processes. In this sense, Fig. 2.1 presents the enabling technologies necessary to



Figure 2.1: Venn diagram presenting the enabling technologies for the metaverse.

advance and catalyze the adoption of metaverse applications within the industrial sector.

Enabling technologies for industrial metaverses include:

- **Decentralization** Refers to the distribution of control and decision-making across a network of participants rather than being concentrated in a single entity. Web3, the next generation of the internet, is closely tied to this concept of decentralization. Built on blockchain technology, Web3 provides the infrastructure for creating decentralized applications and services. Unlike previous generations of the internet, Web3 uses decentralized networks to enable peer-to-peer transactions and interactions. This means that in a Web3-powered metaverse, users can have ownership of their digital assets and participate in governance and decision-making processes without needing intermediaries. As such, Web3 decentralization technologies are closely tied to establishing a more transparent and secure digital economy and data privacy for the metaverse by supplying the necessary tools for managing and exchanging digital assets [5]. Non-Fungible Tokens (NFTs), for example, allow users to prove ownership and authenticity of virtual assets, whereas blockchain provides a consistent way for recording transactions (or blocks) across devices, ensuring that related transactions cannot be altered retroactively without affecting the following blocks [8]. Considering the energy sector, Web3 decentralization can provide a blockchain-based peer-to-peer energy marketplace, where energy producers and consumers could buy and sell energy in real-time, using Non-Fungible Tokens (NFTs) to ensure the security and transparency of transactions, as proposed by [20].
- Sensing and simulations Sensing technologies and IoT are essential for providing a greater understanding of the environmental context [19]. By collecting real-time data from physical assets, these tools allow monitoring diverse aspects of equipment and systems. Moreover, the combined usage of sensing with AI technologies will allow for highly personalized interactions inside the metaverse. In this regard, as virtual worlds become more complex and dynamic, AI will become increasingly important in supplying the intelligence required to generate accurate simulations of realistic behaviors [8]. Technologies like ML, deep learning, and natural language processing will not only be able to generate isolated content but also enable a more natural integration between virtual and digital [19]. In an industrial metaverse for power systems, for example, the combined use of AI with real-time data can help recognize patterns and predict future issues in a system [6].
- Network and infrastructure Advances in network capabilities, including the de-

velopment of 6G, edge, and cloud computing, are crucial to providing faster speeds, improved bandwidth, and reduced network latency [19, 20]. According to [5], the metaverse will change the requirements for mobile and stationary broadbands with respect not only to an increase in the number of devices but also to the volume of the data throughput of the individual devices. Hence, the development of these technologies is imperative to enable a more seamless connection between devices and improve internet connectivity in remote areas, guaranteeing seamless experiences and allowing more people to benefit from the digital world and the metaverse.

- Graphics and content As an immersive environment, 3D graphics, avatars, and other types of content are essential for providing visual and audio cues that facilitate the user's navigation and interpretation of virtual surroundings. Besides unrealistic elements, the metaverse can also contain complex digital representations of the real world, such as DTs, which can be further used for planning, testing, optimizing, and predictive analysis of real-world systems and processes [19].
- Immersion and interactivity According to Mark Zuckerberg, the concept of a metaverse is tied to an "embodied internet," where users will be in the experience rather than just looking at it [21]. In this regard, immersive and XR technologies will be the primary way to access metaverse applications. Users will be able to experience the metaverse via different devices and interfaces, but XR technologies, such as AR and VR, will provide the most immersive, interactive, and comprehensive experiences [8].

### 2.1.2 Digital Twin

DTs have emerged as a promising technology for controlling, planning, and simulating complex systems and processes across different industries. The idea, which has its roots in aerospace engineering, was first used by NASA to model and simulate aircraft and spacecraft [22]. However, it was not until the publication of its whitepaper by Grieves in 2014, [7], that the concept of a DT was fully articulated. The whitepaper served as a foundational document that established the core principles and technical specifications of DTs, helping to drive the adoption and further development of this technology.

In its first definition, a DT is referred to as a model composed of "[...] three main parts: (a) physical products in real space, (b) virtual products in virtual space, and (c) the connections of data and information that tie the virtual and real products together" [7]. Considering the above, [23] highlights that although all these attributes are essential for creating a sophisticated DT, the level of fidelity required by each of them may vary depending on the intended purpose and application of the DT. As such, DTs encompass many different variations and possibilities. This broad definition allows researchers to approach DTs from different perspectives and make unique contributions to their development [24]. For example, a researcher in control engineering might focus on the automation aspects, while a researcher in data mining might concentrate on different ML approaches to support informed decision-making. In this sense, [25] proposes a distinction between digital models, digital shadows, and DTs. The first consists of a digital representation of an entity that does not use any form of automated data integration between the physical and the digital objects. In contrast, the digital shadow combines a digital model with an automated one-way data flow, meaning that a change in a state of the physical object leads to a change of state in the digital object, but not vice versa. Finally, a DT allows for fully integrated data flows in both directions. In this scenario, the digital object can act as a controlling instance of the physical object.

This suggests that, as the virtual and physical worlds become increasingly linked to each other, DTs are likely to gain increased attention, with growing interest from both academia and industry [24]. In particular, advancements in sensor technology, data analytics, and IoT have enabled the development of more complex and comprehensive DTs solutions in recent years. These transformations have also driven the development of several DTs architectures, such as the five-dimensional model proposed by [26] and the four-layer DTs proposed by [27].

			DIGITAL MODEL	DIG	ITAL SHADOW	DIGITAL TWIN
TWINNING PROCESS		Static data	Provides <b>static</b> metadata from model.	Introduces dyna enhance accura	amic <b>parametric</b> data that icy and relevance.	Has access to broad metadata, parametric, and <b>historical</b> data.
	$\mathbf{k}$	Visual representation	Provides basic visuals, <b>3D models</b> and <b>point c</b>	limited to static I <b>ouds</b> .	Incorporates <b>GIS</b> layers, detailed <b>BIM</b> components, and animated 3D models.	Evolves to <b>real-time interactive</b> graphics and may also provide immersive experiences.
	C	Real-time data integration			Provides real-time data for specific elements.	Actively integrates real-time data, including continuous <b>streams from</b> <b>IoT</b> devices.
	°   •	Control			Presents limited unidirectional control features.	Incorporates advanced <b>bidirectional</b> control mechanisms, such as IoT-based control.
	$\circledast$	Simulation and prediction			Simulates basic interactions and predicts <b>scoped scenarios</b> .	Incorporates robust simulation of <b>complex scenarios</b> and prediction features, <b>driven by AI</b> .
				DIG	ITAL REPRESENTATION LEVEL	

Fig. 2.2 presents the interplay between the maturity of the twinning process and the

Figure 2.2: Twinning process considering different levels of digital representation.

corresponding level of digital representation, using a matrix structure with the horizontal axis denoting various levels of digital representation and the vertical axis representing different stages of the twinning process. Given this scenario, this work assumes that a DT is not only a virtual model that looks and behaves like a real-world object but a virtual replica that is dynamically interconnected with its physical counterpart and capable of advanced bidirectional interactions [23].

A high-level representation of a DT is shown in Fig. 2.3. The physical asset, represented in the figure by a wind turbine, is equipped with various sensors, actuators, and other monitoring devices responsible for capturing real-time data, such as 3D scans. Sensors include instruments that detect and measure physical properties, converting these measurements into signals. Actuators, in turn, include devices that respond to these signals by performing actions, such as adjusting a setting based on the sensor data. Lastly, 3D scanning involves specialized equipment, such as laser scanners and Light Detection and Ranging (LiDAR), responsible for capturing and processing spatial data. Finally, additional data sources, such as historical, design, and geospatial data, can also be incorporated into the DT.



Figure 2.3: A high-level representation of a DT.

By combining the mathematical model of the asset with its corresponding 3D model or Building Information Modeling (BIM) and related data, the DT can provide advanced and visual simulations of the behavior and characteristics of its physical counterpart. In this sense, real-time sensor data can be used to continuously update and refine the DT, ensuring its accuracy and relevance. More robust DTs may also use AI models and prediction algorithms to simulate and evaluate different scenarios, such as the impact of different operating conditions and changes to the physical object.

Finally, it is important to highlight that, besides replicating and monitoring the state of its physical counterpart, a complete DT solution can also actively influence and control it, either by user input or automatic intervention flows. For that, the DT must also include advanced control capabilities that allow for a dynamic feedback loop where realworld inputs from sensors can update the DT, which can, in turn, inform decisions and trigger actions in the physical system.

#### 2.1.3 Extended Reality

XR is an umbrella term used to describe any technology capable of providing a sense of presence and immersion in a virtual or augmented world [8]. Considering the realityvirtuality continuum introduced by [28] and presented in Fig. 2.4, XR encompasses all technological possibilities within this spectrum, including all current technologies, such as AR and VR, as well as those yet to be developed.



Figure 2.4: Simplified representation of a reality-virtuality continuum (adapted from [8]).

VR, the most immersive XR technology, creates an effect of spatial presence by replacing the user's view of the real world with computer-generated graphics [9]. By immersing the user in a fully synthetic environment and isolating them from the real world, VR provides a safe environment for planning, learning, and training. In this sense, it presents a singular opportunity to visualize, simulate, and test strategies before their implementation, as well as to recreate dangerous scenarios without putting people in danger.

In contrast, AR is an XR technology that superimposes virtual information onto the physical world while preserving a multi-sensory coherence concerning the observed scene [29]. [9] highlights that an AR system must fulfill three main requirements: (a) combine real and virtual content; (b) be interactive in real-time; and (c) be able to anchor virtual

content in the real world. Moreover, digital overlays can range from simple graphics, such as annotations and images, to complex 3D objects that appear to be completely blended into the real world. In more modern applications, it may also go beyond the sense of sight by incorporating spatial audio and haptic feedback [30].

It is worth noting that, in addition to commonly used terms such as AR and VR, the term Augmented Virtuality (AV) is also found in the literature to refer to an environment where real-world elements are overlaid on top of computer-generated content to create a mixed reality experience. The key difference between AV and AR is that in AV, virtual content composes the primary landscape, and physical world elements are added on top of it [30]. In AR, the opposite is true. For simplicity, the term AR will be employed to denote any form of overlaid real and computer-generated elements in this work, as it is a well-established and widely recognized term.

Furthermore, both AR and VR applications are typically experienced through input devices equipped with a display, computer vision algorithms, camera, and other optical sensors [30]. However, given the differences between both technologies, the complexity required by each may differ. For example, viewpoint tracking in VR does not require the same accuracy relative to the real world as AR since, in this type of application, the user can no longer see the real world [9]. On the other hand, to create a realistic sense of immersion, the need for high-quality graphics is more significant for VR.

Specifically, the visual display is a critical component in XR as it affects the user's perception of the virtual environment. Display options for XR include handheld devices such as smartphones and tablets, Head-mounted displays (HMDs), and large-scale projection systems [30]. Among these, HMD currently provides the most enhanced sense of presence and depth, as well as hands-free interactions. Considering AR, the characteristics of these displays may vary in terms of the underlying technology employed to combine the real and virtual images, notably between video see-through and optical see-through displays, as presented in Fig. 2.5 [9]. Moreover, VR HMDs are a more affordable alternative for experiencing VR. However, this type of HMD blocks out the real-world environment entirely, replacing it with computer-generated visuals and simulations and not allowing for AR experiences.

In contrast, although video see-through displays, such as Samsung Gear VR, also employ opaque screens that block the direct view of the physical world, these displays can also provide AR experiences. In this case, the user is presented with a digitally combined image on the screen, with the graphics processor blending computer-generated



Video see-through

Optical see-through

Figure 2.5: Examples of video see-through and optical see-through AR displays.

images with videos of the real world captured by a camera [9]. Both VR and video seethrough HMDs usually require high-resolution screens with a wide field of view and low latency to avoid motion sickness. In addition, eye-tracking algorithms are also necessary for adjusting the virtual environment based on the user's gaze.

Moreover, AR can also be experienced via optical see-through displays, such as Microsoft's HoloLens and Magic Leap. These displays maintain a direct view of the real world and use a transparent optical combiner, such as a half-silver mirror, to superimpose computer-generated elements onto the real-world scene [30]. This way, the AR experience is perceived more naturally, in real resolution, and free from parallax. Despite that, video see-through displays have increased in popularity due to a wide range of software libraries that facilitate AR implementation, besides being more affordable [31, 32].

Finally, it is also worth noting that depending on the method used to trigger and anchor the visual elements, AR systems can be classified into two main groups, as illustrated in Fig. 2.6. The first group is marker-based, which relies on visual cues and patterns, such as fiducial markers and QR codes, to trigger and anchor virtual objects. This type of AR tracking system became a popular approach due to its simplicity of use and high accuracy of detection [9, 29, 31, 33, 34]. In marker-based AR, the tracking algorithm recognizes and calculates the location and orientation of the virtual objects with respect to the real world by using a camera to identify a predefined pattern. Since these patterns are highly distinct from the existing elements in the scene, the computing effort required to calculate the correct spatial orientation in an AR environment is reduced [30].

The second category is markerless. Markerless AR is a broad category that encompasses different techniques for tracking the physical world without the need for predefined markers. Instead, it might be (1) sensor-based, for example, by applying GPS, magnetometers, accelerometers, and gyroscopes to help determine the relative pose of



Figure 2.6: Examples of marker-based, sensor-based, and computer vision-based AR tracking methods.

the tracked object [9]; or (2) computer vision-based by detecting unique natural feature points of the environment, such as corners, blobs, and edges, for anchoring virtual objects to specific locations in the real world [30]. Computer vision-based markerless AR lacks prior knowledge of the environment. Hence, more computational cost and sensors may be necessary for great accuracy in object recognition and motion tracking [35]. In this regard, Simultaneous Localization and Mapping (SLAM) is commonly employed to continuously map the real-world environment and estimate the device's relative position within that map [36, 37, 35]. With SLAM, all found feature points are used to create a 3D map of a room and accurately place a virtual object within that room in real time.

It is worth noting that, in order to overcome the drawbacks of individual tracking methods, AR applications can also use a hybrid tracking system that combines data from multiple sensors and computer-vision techniques [9]. Hence, the application and intended user experience will determine the most appropriate types of AR technologies to be employed.

#### 2.1.4 Comparative Analysis Between Technologies

In light of the preceding discussions, this section examines how these technologies fit into the broader picture and how they interact with one another. It also explores how their interconnected usage can lead to new and innovative solutions to address real-world challenges. Fig. 2.7 presents the relation between the technologies discussed in this work.

It is possible to observe that XR behaves as an interface between the user and the virtual world. In summary, XR relates to technologies that allow users to have immersive experiences either by completely entering a virtual environment or simply by experiencing an enriched reality from the merge of real and virtual elements. In this regard, the



Figure 2.7: Relationship between the metaverse, DT, VR, and AR technologies.

metaverse, as a shared virtual space, can be accessed in a three-dimensional way, with varying degrees of immersion, via these different XR technologies.

Still, confusion may arise between VR and the metaverse due to their similar ability to provide complete immersive digital experiences. However, one key point to consider is that, unlike VR, which focuses on providing a way to enter isolated virtual worlds, the metaverse is expected to be an interoperated persistent platform built upon the convergence of various virtual worlds, social platforms, and other types of advanced content.

Given the above, it is important to highlight the differences between metaverse and DTs. In summary, although these technologies may converge on some levels, the key difference is that the metaverse is not necessarily tied to a physical asset nor requires sensor data. It may even include unrealistic representations that do not exist in the physical world. In addition, while the metaverse is a virtual space usually focused on providing creative and collaborative experiences, DTs focus on mutually communicating, promoting, and co-evolving with their physical counterparts through bidirectional interactions [24].

It is also worth noting that, as the current technology stands, the metaverse experience may be largely limited to passive observation. For instance, while it may be possible to see and explore the physical layout of a given device via its 3D model in the metaverse, it may not be possible to interact with or operate its corresponding physical entity. On the other hand, by incorporating DTs into the metaverse, it is possible to envision industry-specific metaverses, such as the energy metaverse or the healthcare metaverse [3]. Moreover, considering the benefits of DTs, the metaverse may achieve a higher level of realism with enhanced real-time and bidirectional interactivity.

Finally, via XR technologies, users will be able to enter the metaverse and experience and operate machines and systems via their DTs as if they were in the physical world. This, however, will only be possible via the continuous development of the enabling technologies previously discussed in this section. In light of the above and based on the key features identified throughout this work, Table 2.1 presents a comparison of the technologies discussed in this section.

## 2.2 Applications in the Energy Sector

The potential applications of industrial metaverses, DTs, and XR were reviewed and analyzed, considering how they can address current challenges in power systems. As a result, the 85 papers investigated in the systematic literature review previously mentioned were classified into the following categories:

- Energy Market and Demand Management: applications related to strategies to optimize energy supply and consumption. It involves monitoring, analyzing, and forecasting energy market trends and prices. This category focuses on balancing energy supply and demand techniques and enhancing the energy trade market.
- Training and Occupational Safety: applications related to enhancing the knowledge, skills, and awareness of electric utilities' personnel. It includes training programs and courses designed to educate employees on safety protocols and best practices. This category aims to prevent workplace accidents, injuries, and hazards by providing appropriate training, promoting a safety culture, and ensuring compliance with relevant Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) regulations.
- Maintenance and Inspection: applications related to assessing and preserving the operational condition and reliability of systems and equipment. It focuses on identifying potential issues, defects, or malfunctions through routine inspections, preventive maintenance, and corrective actions. This category aims to ensure the smooth functioning and longevity of assets by detecting and addressing problems promptly, reducing downtime, and minimizing the risk of accidents or failures.

	B	Full's	inner Real	revolding the	teractive vision	unent stralen stralen sini	inonner jition Jiation Digi	La Sha	ed virtue	in in it is a construct of the interview	or user in eally more the EXPE	itelaste jielase jielase jielase	il ila veati ila veati kedaina Real	abe Hall	D <sup>5</sup> D <sup>5</sup> D <sup>6</sup> D <sup>6</sup> D <sup>6</sup> D <sup>6</sup> D <sup>6</sup> D <sup>6</sup>	phisical f	biects pabilities pabilities Avatai	, Nased
Metaverse	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	Ο	$\checkmark$	Ο	Ο	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	Ο		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	Ο	$\checkmark$	Ο	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
Digital Twin	0		$\checkmark$		0	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		0		0		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			
Augmented Reality	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$					
Virtual Reality	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	0			$\checkmark$	0		$\checkmark$		0	0	

Table 2.1: Feature comparison of the metaverse, DTs, AR, and VR technologies.  $\checkmark$  indicates an inherent functionality of a given technology. *O* indicates an optional feature, meaning its absence does not define the essence of that particular technology. The empty spaces indicate that the given technology does not characterize or provide that feature.

- **Project Planning:** applications related to the systematic and strategic process of managing power system projects. Simulation techniques are used to model and predict project outcomes, allowing stakeholders to assess different scenarios and make informed decisions.
- Performance and Real-time Control: applications related to the continuous observation, measurement, and management of power systems. It involves gathering and assessing real-time data, as well as providing insights into corrective actions to maintain desired operating conditions. This category focuses on performance monitoring, detecting deviations, and implementing control mechanisms to maintain the system's stability and performance.

Fig. 2.8 provides a visual snapshot of the diverse and practical applications explored in the reviewed articles. Fig. 2.8 (a) shows an application where AR is employed for predictive maintenance of a wind turbine model, detecting unequal weight distributions in wind turbine propellers. Fig. 2.8 (b) illustrates how VR can be utilized for training and supervision of an electric power substation. Fig. 2.8 (c) depicts a use case of a DT





(a) Predictive maintenance of rotating machines and AR view from HoloLens [34].

(b) Supervision of an electric power substation through a VR application [38].



(c) Monitoring of an offshore wind farm (d) Shadow evaluation on the photovoltaic through its DT [39].



array installed on the roof of the house [40].

Figure 2.8: Examples of XR and DT applications in power systems.
for predictive maintenance of offshore wind farms. Lastly, Fig. 2.8 (d) shows how VR can be used in project planning to assess shadow in photovoltaic installations.

Furthermore, the radar chart presented in Fig. 2.9 indicates the number of papers classified in each application field, providing a quick and easy-to-read overview of trending applications related to each technology reviewed in this work. It is possible to observe that AR is more commonly employed in *Maintenance and Inspection*, being mainly used to overlay information about equipment performance and status onto the user's view. This allows operators and maintenance personnel to quickly identify potential issues and take corrective action. VR, in turn, is predominantly employed for *Project Planning* and *Training and Occupational Safety* purposes since this technology's immersive and interactive nature facilitates realistic training experiences and enhances project planning by providing stakeholders with an in-depth understanding of scenarios that would otherwise be too difficult to convey.



Figure 2.9: Radar chart mapping article distribution across application fields.

It is also possible to observe from Fig. 2.9 that the scope of DTs applications is more extensive, with their primary usage being in the area of *Performance and Real-time Control.* In this regard, DTs are mainly used to provide insights into the behavior and efficiency of their physical counterparts. By comparing DT-generated data with real-world data, operators can detect deviations and anomalies in the physical asset's performance. Moreover, the simulation capabilities of DTs can help operators predict how changes in certain variables will affect the behavior of the physical asset, allowing for informed decisions and adjustments in real-time.

Finally, despite the limited number of studies on the metaverse, the radar chart indicates a growing inclination towards utilizing this technology in *Energy Market and De*- mand Management applications. In this scenario, users could engage in trading activities using digital avatars and exchange digital representations of energy assets.

# 2.3 Software and Development Tools

The development of industrial metaverses, DTs, and XR applications usually requires a combination of software and hardware components. The stack employed may also vary depending on the specific goals, available budget, and intended functionalities of the application. For example, a marker-based AR solution focused on precise object tracking may require a different set of software than a markerless AR solution focused on flexibility and natural user experience. In the case of industrial metaverses and DTs, specifically, the choice of tools and technologies is also driven by the complexity and completeness of the solution. For instance, if the primary focus of a DT is to simulate and optimize energy modeling platform, and integration with IoT devices may be essential for capturing and analyzing real-time data. On the other hand, if the DT focuses on aspects that are not related to geography or physical location, integrating GIS into the DT may not be necessary.

Through the systematic literature review conducted, it was possible to identify and classify the development tools mentioned in the reviewed publications as in the following:

- CAD and 3D modeling: Software for creating technical drawings and detailed digital representations of objects and structures. These tools usually offer features such as precise measurement, object placement, and comprehensive control over shapes, sizes, and textures. Autodesk® Revit and Autodesk® Infraworks 360 were the most common tools cited in the reviewed literature. Autodesk® Revit is a BIM software for creating 3D models of buildings and infrastructure projects. Autodesk® Infraworks 360, on the other hand, is a specialized software for creating 3D infrastructure projects in a real-world context.
- Game engine and animation: Software platforms for developing simulations and interactive experiences. These tools usually offer features such as advanced graphics rendering, physics simulation, asset management, and visual scripting. Since they allow the creation of sophisticated 3D objects with realistic lighting, shading, and texture effects, these tools are commonly employed to build 3D animations in

XR applications and DTs that include high-fidelity visualization and real-time interactivity. Besides Autodesk® 3Ds Studio Max, a 3D animation and rendering software, game engines such as Unity and Unreal were mentioned.

- Programming language: Programming languages were used for diverse reasons in the reviewed literature. In general, they were mainly employed either to facilitate the implementation of complex algorithms and mathematical models or to support the integration and interoperability of various elements within services and systems. The most common programming languages mentioned in the reviewed literature include MatLab, C#, and Python. Notice that MatLab was classified as a highlevel programming language, mainly used to implement mathematical models in DTs.
- Computer vision Software Development Kits (SDKs): Sets of pre-built functions and algorithms that assist developers in building computer vision applications. These tools usually offer features for image and video processing, object detection, and motion tracking. The most common tools within this category include OpenCV, YOLO, and Vuforia.

Fig. 2.10 presents the technologies employed in the development of XR and DTs solutions in the context of the reviewed publications, systematically categorized and accompanied by their corresponding references. Lastly, although most of the reviewed publications on DTs did not explicitly mention a specific development tool related to data acquisition, data management, and data analysis, they consistently emphasized the significance of these aspects in their proposed solutions. Therefore, a brief explanation of these elements is provided in the following:

• Data acquisition: Involves acquiring real-time and historical data related to parameters, variables, and environmental conditions that influence the behavior and performance of the system. This data is used to update and synchronize the DT, allowing for accurate and dynamic representations of the physical system. The data acquisition layer includes hardware and software that collect data from various sources, including sensors, IoT devices, SCADA systems, GIS, and other data streams. SCADA services are mentioned in [39, 41, 42, 43] and GIS in [41, 49].



Figure 2.10: Overview of development tools employed in the reviewed publications for developing AR, VR, and DT solutions.

- Data management: Ensures that the DT has access to the relevant historical and real-time data required for accurate modeling and analysis. It involves storing and processing the large amount of data generated by the digital model and its physical counterpart. The data management layer encompasses data storage solutions, such as databases and cloud-based platforms, capable of handling the volume and variety of data produced by the whole system. MongoDB non-relational database is mentioned in [67]. Relational databases, such as MySQL and SQLite, are mentioned in [81, 48, 82], and SAP Hana in [47].
- Data generation and analysis: Involves simulating the behavior of the DT and generating synthetic data that mimics the responses and performance of the physical system. It also involves applying AI, statistical techniques, and ML models to identify patterns, predict system behavior, optimize performance, and support decision-making processes. AI and ML algorithms are mentioned in [39, 72, 73, 83, 48, 82, 77, 75].

It is worth noting that the diverse range of tools and technologies employed in the development of XR and DTs reflects the multidisciplinary nature of these fields. Moreover, the lack of specific tool references in publications related to the metaverse can be attributed to the predominantly conceptual nature of these studies. Because the metaverse is still in its early stages, the reviewed publications mainly focus on proposing novel methodologies rather than particular hardware and software.

# 2.4 Technical Challenges and Literature Gaps

The technical challenges observed throughout the reviewed studies are summarized in Fig. 2.11. They were categorized into three main groups intended to present a more nuanced understanding of the current state of the art and provide insights into areas that require further investigation and development:

- Hardware limitations
- Development limitations
- Lack of specialized solutions

### 2.4.1 Hardware limitations

The development of immersive technologies heavily relies on hardware devices with advanced capabilities. Consequently, current limitations faced by these devices may affect the implementation of reliant industrial metaverses, DTs, and XR solutions.

To simulate real-world scenarios and accurately provide real-time functionality, DTs usually require significant computational power. In practice, high-speed processing and communication capabilities are necessary in order to handle the workload of processing and updating data in real time. Hence, if there is a delay between the data transfer and the simulation software processing that data, latency issues may arise, leading to inaccuracies in the DT and impacting the effectiveness of the simulation [42, 43, 84]. Moreover, the complete hardware related to the sensing layer of the DT's physical counterpart may be complex and include various equipment, particularly considering specialized solutions. For example, in [44], the hardware requirements for a multi-turbine DT include wind speed, wind direction, temperature, and humidity sensors.



Figure 2.11: Overview of technical challenges found in the reviewed publications for developing AR, VR, and DT solutions.

Concerning XR technologies, despite significant advancements over the past few years, its development also faces hardware limitations. The literature reveals continuous challenges relating to ergonomics, processing capacity, and graphics performance.

Since maintenance and training tasks often involve prolonged periods of usage, ergonomics factors are critical. Heavy or uncomfortable devices, such as popular HMDs, can lead to user fatigue, eye strain, and headaches, consequently reducing adoption rates [29, 33, 86, 78, 80]. Nonetheless, alternative approaches using less immersive experiences, such as handheld displays, come with their own limitations, particularly the inability to provide a hands-free experience and an unobstructed view of the surroundings.

Another critical requirement of XR applications concerns the processing capacity required to render high-quality graphics, track virtual content, and maintain real-time interactivity [29, 34]. According to [40], the complexity of objects and structures that VR can handle is limited by the processing power of the CPU, and therefore, some practical applications remain out of reach. Finally, since limited internet connectivity can hinder real-time interactions, it is important to consider if the XR solution relies on cloud-based services for processing and content delivery [32]. Otherwise, applications aiming for remote assistance may be ineffective.

### 2.4.2 Development limitations

The development of DTs and XR applications presents various challenges and considerations that demand careful planning and execution, mainly related to data management, platform compatibility, and design issues.

Developing DTs requires careful consideration of specific limitations in terms of data management, primarily concerning the quality, volume, and availability of the data. First, it is important to consider that DT applications usually generate a large volume of data, demanding robust storage and data processing strategies to handle the workload efficiently.

According to [52], as the number of parameters under consideration increases, the analytical data volume also increases, consequently leading to time-consuming and complex data analysis processes. Also, because modeling accuracy depends on the model parameters, this connects to another technical difficulty in building DTs, which is properly modeling the physical system being duplicated in the DT [77]. This process requires extensive knowledge of the system's behavior and access to high-quality data. Moreover, noise data, biased models, and neglected aspects may also affect the twinning process of DTs. In this regard, it is important to consider that not all parameter data may be readily available or compatible with the DT's requirements.

According to [4], insufficient data availability can create dead spots, which may introduce biases and limit the ability of DTs to accurately represent certain aspects of the system, such as social and environmental factors. One of the contributing factors to the absence of data is the potential inaccessibility of certain data sources, which may be attributed to concerns surrounding privacy and security restrictions. In addition, historical data may be either non-existent or incomplete. For example, in [93], the authors mention that the monitoring capabilities of older nuclear power plants may have limited sensor sets, and historical data may not be rich enough to support data-driven algorithms. In [81], it is highlighted the absence of data due to the fact that some meters are not equipped with smart technology.

Moreover, [4] highlights that available data may also affect twinning since noise data is easily measurable and readily available. In [44], for example, the authors discuss how sensor failures may generate outliers and negatively affect the accuracy of the prediction model. Finally, since experts designing DTs have the authority to select datasets, [4] raises an ethical concern regarding data privacy and ownership, especially considering the bias and influence of dominant manufacturers.

Furthermore, given that DTs deal with multi-temporal, multi-dimensional, and heterogeneous data from various sources, data compatibility, and integration issues may arise [88]. For example, in [81], the authors mention the current knowledge gaps regarding the combination of energy-related data with geospatial data. In [51], the challenges related to data fusion with 3D models are highlighted. The authors cite inconsistent standards in 3D model creation, which hinder their reusability. Additionally, difficulties in updating changes in design and manufacturing prevent these models from accurately reflecting the real-world scenario.

Concerning XR technologies, developers must be aware of software concerns related to platform compatibility, accuracy, user experience, and tracking [29]. Platform compatibility is a crucial consideration in the development of XR applications, as it directly impacts the accessibility and usability of the product across various devices, operating systems, and the industrial environment [29, 86, 50]. Limitations related to platform compatibility may result in significant constraints for users, excluding a large portion of the potential audience and hindering widespread adoption. Yet, ensuring cross-platform support can be challenging due to differences in hardware capabilities and software APIs.

Moreover, the development of XR applications requires specialized cross-functional teams [38]. However, given the complexity and costs involved in these projects, some aspects of the development are often neglected. One point of attention is the design of accessible and user-friendly interfaces since these applications should be easy to navigate and manipulate without extensive training. In [38, 90], the authors discuss how existing authoring tools lack data integration and are desktop-oriented, disconnecting the creation process from actual immersive user experiences. In this regard, it is important to acknowledge that a poorly designed interface may lead to frustration and disengagement among users, affecting their overall experience with the solution.

### 2.4.3 Lack of specialized solutions

The implementation of industrial metaverses, DTs, and XR in power systems also faces significant limitations due to the absence of clear guidelines and prior references. Researchers often face the daunting task of adapting generic approaches to suit their particular requirements, leading to potential inefficiencies and limitations in the outcomes [32]. The development of specialized DTs for power systems is confronted with particular technical challenges. The literature reveals difficulties in modeling complex power systems, including representing unknown parameters and effectively incorporating physical constraints into prediction models [89]. Considering wind energy systems, the authors in [44, 75] mention the difficulties in dealing with spatially correlated turbines, as well as modeling these systems due to their nonlinear characteristics and uncertainty in data related to wind fluctuating patterns. In [77], the authors reveal the challenges in identifying unknown parameters of photovoltaic cells, including the diode quality factor, series resistance, shunt resistance, and temperature coefficients, necessary to build a reliable DT. Also, according to [91], the lack of design specifications for certain components, such as wind turbines, may hinder the development of high-fidelity DTs. This problem primarily arises from the proprietary nature of these designs, with many manufacturers guarding design specifications as intellectual property.

The absence of established guidelines, standards, and frameworks for developing DTs is another significant obstacle. [88] highlights that, while some initial efforts have been made, the transition from theory to practical DT applications requires further development related to addressing technical limitations, architecture standardization, and interface specifications. In [69], the authors mention that the lack of guidelines complicates the implementation of DTs and integration into existing infrastructures, making it timeconsuming and expensive. Similarly, in [41], the authors highlight that, although DTs are expected to have a growing impact on the energy sector, their effective implementation requires additional efforts to enhance the current tools in integrated DT frameworks.

Comparable concerns are also observed in the context of XR since most applications are not industry-specialized and offer only generic data visualization solutions [32, 86]. Each application domain, however, presents distinct needs and prerequisites. When it comes to AR applications, for example, it is crucial to take into account environmental factors. This is because the unique intricacies presented by substation facilities may pose challenges for AR implementation as an assisting tool in maintenance and operation tasks. According to [37], the fact that substation facilities share similar scene structures and geometrical features makes AR challenging in terms of image processing. Such geometrical similarities can easily result in perceptual aliasing or failures in continuous ego-motion estimation. Another concern relates to detecting point features in substation facilities, since these settings are more susceptible to illumination changes, perspective shifts, and low-textured scenes. In [57, 58], although a different set of AR technologies is used, the authors express similar concerns as those explored in [37]. It is said in [57] that lighting is a challenge for image-processing-based object detection algorithms in real operation courtyards. Moreover, according to [58], traditional methods commonly employed in AR, such as markers, are not appropriate for industrial environments since equipment is continuously powered on in these sites, limiting workers' mobility to a minimum safe distance. This poses a challenge not only for installing the markers but also for their visibility. In this regard, their applicability is limited in scenarios where pipes and equipment obstruct their visibility or when the worker's viewing angle does not include the fiducial marker. In addition, factors such as dust, which is common in power plants, can also hinder the detection of fiducial markers.

Finally, according to [95, 57], the existing literature lacks substantial focus on the potential applications of XR in power systems. For example, the integration of XR with power systems data, such as SCADA systems, has not yet been widely investigated. [61] also highlights that, although AR can be used to overlay BIM data onto a physical site with real-time data, there are significant gaps in the literature regarding the integration of BIM models with energy consumption and generation data. According to the authors, such limitations restrict the development of new immersive experiences in the sector.

Another literature gap in the development of XR applications for power systems relates to a lack of design methodologies that facilitate the creation and distribution of XR applications for training purposes [33, 38, 92, 90]. For example, the current authoring tools for creating immersive educational experiences lack integration with existing data and are primarily desktop-oriented. These characteristics detach the pedagogic process of creating the immersive experience from experiencing it in a situated context [90].

### 2.5 Barriers and Motivations for Adoption

To better understand the barriers and motivations for the adoption of the studied technologies, two main steps were undertaken: assessing academic interest in the reviewed topics throughout the years and mapping the motivations and barriers described in the existing literature. Academic interest was considered in order to evaluate future trends of the subjects under review. For that, a Scopus search encompassing only journal publications with titles containing the terms "augmented reality," "mixed reality," "virtual reality," "digital twin," and "metaverse " was conducted. The gathered data was then



Figure 2.12: Number of journal publications containing the terms "augmented reality," "mixed reality," "virtual reality," "digital twin," and "metaverse" by year. Cut-off date: April, 2023.

examined over the years, as presented in Fig. 2.12.

The graph shows that although XR and DT technologies are not entirely new, the number of studies in these areas has increased significantly in recent years. This behavior may be an indicator of increased funding and investment in research and development for these technologies, suggesting a growing recognition of their perceived potential to address critical challenges in various industry sectors. Moreover, this surge in research interest may also be related to the evolution and democratization of enabling technologies, such as AI and IoT, which may have facilitated the exploration of formerly inaccessible solutions. Consequently, it is possible to anticipate new market opportunities and the maturation of these technologies in the following years.

In regard to the metaverse, it is possible to observe that studies on this subject have been experiencing rapid growth since 2021. In [3], the authors describe the motivation for building an Energy Metaverse as a means to facilitate the exploration of innovative "what-if" scenarios that would be too costly or difficult to investigate in the physical world. In addition to cost savings and improved resource utilization, the proposed Energy Metaverse would lead to faster discoveries and more efficient energy technologies and solutions development [96]. Nevertheless, the Energy Metaverse faces its own set of obstacles.

The persistence of user-generated actions introduces intricate challenges related to data management, privacy issues, and ethical responsibilities in preserving users' digital footprint [97]. In this regard, studies such as [20] are actively exploring the use of blockchain in the metaverse. However, challenges lie in the diversity of blockchain transaction formats, which can hinder efficient information exchange between different blockchain systems. Moreover, establishing an energy trading ecosystem with blockchain requires transaction regulations, which are difficult to enforce in public and decentralized systems with no central authority, such as the metaverse [20].

Additionally, ensuring the accuracy and reliability of virtual simulations poses an ongoing challenge that needs to be addressed for the Energy Metaverse to gain widespread acceptance and application [96]. In this sense, the development and maintenance of comprehensive simulation models demand significant computational resources and expertise, making it a resource-intensive endeavor. For example, according to [96], terminal nodes in the energy system present highly nonlinear operating characteristics; hence, creating DT models for all components can be costly. Furthermore, advanced solutions, as those proposed in [20, 98], face regulatory uncertainties, lack of interoperability, and the need for high financial investments. Therefore, it is important to acknowledge that the Energy Metaverse, as proposed in the reviewed literature, remains largely conceptual and not yet feasible in its entirety. To summarize these findings, Fig. 2.13 showcases an Ishikawa diagram, which elucidates the underlying requirements for the widespread adoption of the metaverse in power systems.

Moreover, when analyzing the academic interest in DT, it is possible to observe a similar pattern as that described for the metaverse, but with an earlier starting point in 2017. The motivations for implementing DTs in the energy sector are rooted in the benefits they offer in terms of real-time monitoring, advanced simulation, and improved decision-making capabilities. However, despite the current academic interest, several barriers hinder the widespread adoption and successful implementation of DTs. Challenges related to understanding their scope, data handling, and adaptability were found in the literature.

In terms of costs, the DT implementation is usually described as a cost-effective solution [88, 45, 91]. Nonetheless, a comprehensive analysis by [43] reveals that the implementation and maintenance costs of DTs can be high, especially for large and complex physical systems. The authors further underscore that most DT implementations exhibit restricted applicability and that the final implementation of a full and one-to-one DTs re-

mains elusive. Moreover, lacking a standardized understanding of what DTs truly entail and how they function is mentioned in [4] as a challenge that hinders research investigation and creates misalignment between project goals and expectations. In general, different requirements for DTs were perceived in the reviewed literature. While certain studies placed particular emphasis on the mathematical model of the physical counterpart, others explored prediction models. It was also observed that the field of 3D visualization, especially concerning interactive features, requires further investigation. [4] also cautions against overly equating DTs with reality and emphasizes the importance of transparency and understanding the limitations of these tools for policymaking.

Another barrier lies in the efforts involved in integrating DTs into the existing power grid infrastructure. As stated by [43], existing DT frameworks for power systems do not consider the adaptability of the solution nor its scalability. This restricts the potential benefits of the application to just one type of end user. Another type of infrastructure limitation is mentioned in [84], where the massive data of the twin system is presented as a considerable challenge to power communication infrastructure. In this sense, current wireless technologies face limitations in terms of time delay, latency, massive connectivity, ultra-low power consumption, and deep coverage [84].

Finally, Fig. 2.12 shows that research and development in XR technologies have been ongoing since the 1990s. However, it was not until around 2016 that academic



Figure 2.13: Ishikawa diagram illustrating the requirements for the widespread adoption of the metaverse in power systems.

interest in this subject grew significantly. Despite the large body of work in this field, its widespread adoption is yet to happen. Considering the power systems sector, the motivations for implementing XR include mainly improved safety, enhanced real-time support, cost reductions related to personnel displacement, and enriched user experiences both in training and maintenance.

Nonetheless, although these technologies may be valuable to the industry, the costeffectiveness of XR in power systems still needs to be assessed [29, 58]. According to [29], no exhaustive study confirms that AR prototypes offer substantial gains for the industry in terms of investment costs and operational efficiency. Moreover, high costs and ergonomics concerns related to immersive hardware, such as HMDs, limit the widespread adoption of XR technologies [86, 78, 80]. This not only makes it difficult for vendors to build a solid business case for their products, but regulators may also be unwilling to endorse the usage of these technologies since they have yet to be improved and increase adoption. In this regard, [29] stresses that companies have been cautious in adopting AR into their processes since these solutions are not competitive yet. Furthermore, literature gaps, few practical examples, and technical constraints are cited as challenges in [29, 33, 37, 57]. For example, [90] highlights the complexity of creating VR experiences, as software development expertise is required and existing authoring tools lack integration with organizational data. In [38], the initial design and development of VR scenes are also considered time-consuming and resource-intensive processes, as they often involve manual methods and specialized teams. For example, the VR-based training system presented in [99] took thirty-six months, involving more than 40,000 person-hours of work.

Finally, it is important to highlight that, despite these challenges, the use of XR, DTs, and metaverse is likely to increase adoption as technology advances and more success stories emerge from early adopters.

# Chapter 3

# **Metaverse Framework Proposal**

Building on the insights gained from the literature review, this chapter presents a framework proposal for the development of industrial metaverse applications in power systems. The framework is designed to address specific needs and challenges identified in the literature review, such as the lack of specialized solutions and interoperability issues.

Central to this framework proposal is the following definition: An industrial metaverse application for power systems is a collaborative virtual platform that allows stakeholders to interact with each other and digital models in real time. It provides insights into the overall operation of power plants or systems, focusing on their collective performance rather than highly specific elements. The platform integrates a realistic 3D environment, administrative controls, real-time data, and simulation capabilities, allowing it to adapt and adjust itself to mirror the current state of the system. It leverages standard communication protocols and modular services to ensure interoperability and enhance its relevance.

A high-level representation of the proposed framework is presented in Fig. 3.1. At its core, the framework embraces modularity as a guiding principle. Modularity concerns the application's capacity to break down the system into smaller, manageable components, facilitating integration with diverse services and functionalities. To this end, the framework prioritizes standardized communication protocols, a decoupled interface, and a data-centric architecture. These characteristics facilitate various user flows, as those presented in Fig. 3.1(b). Possible user flows within the metaverse application include:

- Monitoring real-time data from the SCADA system.
- Sending input values to perform simulations. These inputs can be passed to a



(a) Architecture of the industrial metaverse framework.

(b) User flows facilitated by communication protocols and APIs.

Figure 3.1: Proposed industrial metaverse framework for power systems.

Hardware-in-the-Loop (HIL) system, which streams the simulated data back to the metaverse application. This interaction allows for testing and analyzing potential outcomes without impacting the actual system.

- Sending input values to perform advanced automation tasks. These inputs can be sent to the HIL system, which processes the requests and sends them to the SCADA system. This closed-loop interaction may help validate inputs before sending them to the actual system.
- Requesting data from a backend service. This user flow can be implemented for less time-sensitive tasks.

The following subsections dive deeper into the core aspects of the proposed framework.

## 3.1 Real-Time Data Integration and Interoperability

The proposed framework is built upon several pillars, among which interoperability stands out as a critical part. Interoperability ensures that different components, including hardware and software, can successfully work together. Moreover, the use of proprietary protocols limits the system's applicability as it hinders communication and integration with non-compatible components [100]. Hence, besides facilitating integration and optimizing processes, interoperability can reduce costs by avoiding the need to replace existing infrastructure due to proprietary constraints. In this sense, data exchange via standard communication protocols, such as Open Platform Communications - Unified Architecture (OPC-UA) and International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) 61850, serves as the backbone of the framework.

Given the above, standard communication protocols define the rules and conventions for data exchange between different parts of the application, enabling interactions such as those presented in Fig. 3.2. The figure illustrates the application's modular design and integration points between its different components.



Figure 3.2: UML component diagram illustrating the architectural structure of the system, indicating the interactions and dependencies between key components.

### 3.1.1 OPC-UA

OPC-UA is an interoperability standard (IEC 62541) that allows the continuous data flow between devices from different vendors and suppliers. The standard provides flexible information modeling, allowing it to represent various devices and systems as well as adapt to existing smart grid data models [101]. Another key feature that makes OPC-UA an essential part of industrial metaverse applications is that it supports real-time data transmission with high precision and redundancy mechanisms. These mechanisms facilitate data availability and improve the application's resilience, ensuring that data is not lost or corrupted due to technical failures.

The OPC-UA architecture usually includes servers responsible for managing the data and an OPC-UA client, which, given adequate access rights, read and write data, can invoke methods, and subscribe to alarms [101]. The architecture also supports peer-topeer communication with direct data transfer between servers. Moreover, data modeling in OPC-UA is based on a hierarchical structure of nodes, with each node having a unique identifier called a NodeId and attributes that provide additional information about it, such as value, data type, and access level. The structure that organizes all nodes in the OPC-UA server is called an Address Space, and it is how clients can browse and navigate the OPC-UA server [102].

### 3.1.2 IEC 61850

While OPC-UA provides a general approach for industrial automation, the IEC 61850 standardizes communication within substations. Therefore, implementing OPC-UA and IEC 61850 can be highly beneficial to achieving greater interoperability and efficient communication for successful smart grid applications, as investigated in [101, 102].

The IEC 61850 standardizes communication for digital devices in power systems by following an object-oriented data modeling approach, which defines a common language for describing power system assets, their functions, and data exchanged between them [100]. In this sense, data exchange is facilitated not only between physical devices such as substations, transformers, and switchgear but also between these devices and the broader systems responsible for managing and analyzing operational data.

## 3.2 Decoupled Interface

A decoupled interface implies minimizing the interdependencies between the frontend solution and the underlying business logic. This approach offers several advantages, including the ability to evolve individual systems without affecting the metaverse's core functionalities. For this purpose, game engines, such as  $Unity^1$  and  $Unreal^2$ , are suggested.

In such architecture, the decoupled interface does not rely on internal details or dependencies of other backend services. Besides reducing the risk of one component breaking due to changes in another, decoupled interfaces promote a modular design, where each component focuses on specific tasks without being tightly coupled to other parts of the system. The following sections explore the development of decoupled user interfaces through game engines.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Available at https://unity.com/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Available at https://www.unrealengine.com/.

### 3.2.1 Connectors

Although the suggested engines are renowned for their capabilities in game development, their flexibility also allows for the creation of interactive applications, simulations, and virtual reality experiences that require complex backend integrations and networked functionalities. Moreover, since these engines typically use C# and the .NET framework in their underlying processes, it is possible to leverage a wide range of libraries and tools that are compatible with these technologies to establish connections. For example, through C# scripting, it is possible to integrate industry-standard communication protocols such as OPC-UA and Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) to establish reliable data transmission and allow real-time updates between a server and a client.

These scripts work as connectors, i.e., specialized scripts that facilitate communication and interaction between different parts of the application. These connectors can be further understood as bridges that enable data exchange, event triggering, and behavior synchronization between various elements of the application. In the context of industrial metaverses and DTs, a script that configures an OPC-UA client can be especially useful in order to enable subscriptions to data nodes from IoT sensors and SCADA. Moreover, once the connection is established with the real-time data communication layer, simulation capabilities can also be integrated into the solution, utilizing either an independent backend service or a HIL application. A recommended approach involves streaming the outputs of the system's HIL, possibly based on Simulink, to the real-time data communication layer, as presented in [103, 104, 105].

In addition to streaming and subscribing to data, the industrial metaverse application can also integrate additional Hypertext Transfer Protocol (HTTP) Representational State Transfer (REST) Application Programming Interfaces (APIs) to create stateless interactions that do not require maintaining a connection session. A REST API is a software architectural style for creating web services that allow different systems to communicate with each other using the HTTP protocol. In this scenario, it is important to highlight that HTTP is request-based and stateless, designed primarily for discrete data exchanges rather than continuous streams. Nonetheless, integrating with such APIs allows for enriching the application's capabilities and providing users with a comprehensive suite of tools and information. Moreover, HTTP APIs also allow for bi-directional communication between Unity and external systems. Commands can be sent from Unity to trigger actions and request external data. For instance, integrating the application with a specialized ML load forecasting API could enable users to provide input data and the application to utilize the retrieved results to enhance simulation results. Another example involves fetching historical data or configuration settings from a centralized database. This data can then be used to enrich the simulation environment and provide contextual information to users.

Fig. 3.3 presents the Unified Modeling Language (UML) sequence diagram for the interactions between the metaverse application and the SCADA system, enabled by the OPC-UA communication layer. In the figure, the SCADA system initializes communication with both the IEC 61850 driver and the OPC-UA server. The metaverse application, in turn, subscribes to data nodes and updates the simulation scene considering the data fetched from the centralized communication layer.



Figure 3.3: UML sequence diagram illustrating the interactions between the SCADA system, the IEC 61850 driver, the OPC-UA server, and the metaverse application.

Similarly, in Fig. 3.4, the interaction with a backend application is presented. The application works as an OPC-UA client, subscribing to data nodes and processing the received data to send alarms and events to the OPC-UA server.



Figure 3.4: UML sequence diagram illustrating the interactions between the OPC-UA server, a backend service, and the metaverse application.

### 3.2.2 User Experience Design

By implementing script connectors to retrieve data, the user interface components remain independent and responsive to changes in real-time data. As a result, the design of administrative interfaces and heads-up displays, as well as the creation of interactive 3D scenes, can be done separately, with the objects adapting their behavior according to the attached scripts. For example, when the OPC-UA server receives an alert, the application can present a warning on top of a specific component. Additionally, animations based on native flow-based animators can also be implemented to enhance user interactions.



Figure 3.5: UML component diagram for a multi-user industrial metaverse application accessible via XR devices.

Other valuable features to create engaging user experiences concern configuring an immersive and multi-user environment. Enabling immersive experiences through XR devices allows users to explore the power plant within a 3D perspective, increasing user engagement and facilitating the understanding of complex information. It may also enable deeper analysis, realistic simulations, and more effective remote collaboration.

Moreover, enabling a multi-user experience is possible through a server-client architecture, where one application instance acts as the server and coordinates client sessions. A network manager is necessary to manage the low-level networking tasks necessary for connecting users' devices to the simulation servers. Complementing the network manager, the session manager enables the high-level management of the clients' sessions by synchronizing states across all connected clients. This synchronization is critical for ensuring that every user has a consistent experience. Moreover, cloud servers are also necessary to provide the infrastructure to host the application, as well as a way for the XR device or computer to access the application. These interactions are illustrated in the UML component diagram presented in Fig. 3.5.

### 3.3 Observability

While decoupling enhances the flexibility of the metaverse application, it is also important to guarantee that the system is observable. Observability refers to the system's ability to provide real-time insights into its internal states. This suggests that a system can be virtually recreated more or less faithfully, given how observable it is. Therefore, heightened observability correlates with enhanced comprehensibility of the system, facilitating the creation of a more faithful virtual replication thereof. As such, the continuous operation of a DT or industrial metaverse application may heavily rely on sensor data. In this regard, depending on the complexity of the system's sensing layer, IoT gateways, such as ThingsBoard and Node-RED, are advised to accommodate a diverse range of devices and sensors. Nonetheless, directly leveraging SCADA can be a more straightforward option, depending on the application's desired functionalities and maturity level.

Still, synchronization requires careful configuration of sensor sampling times and data transmission rates. Sensors embedded within solar panels, inverters, weather stations, and other components must be synchronized to capture relevant data, such as solar irradiance levels, temperature, panel orientation, and electrical output, in real-time. This is essential for the metaverse application to receive timely and accurate information about the current operating conditions of the photovoltaic power plant. Furthermore, synchronization extends beyond data acquisition to encompass the integration and processing of data within the metaverse platform.

Finally, real-time data collected from the physical equipment can directly feed the decoupled user interface. Furthermore, the proposed framework also suggests consuming the gathered data into modular packaged capabilities that target different aspects of the solution. Examples include a fault detection and diagnostics application, a predictive maintenance alert service, and a weather forecasting service. Each service is responsible for providing specific functionalities and adding intelligence to the metaverse application in a particular way. These applications can evolve independently from one another while still sharing interdependencies and consuming shared data from databases, SCADA, and the IoT gateway. As a result, the metaverse platform adopts a modular, data-centric approach, where every facet of the industrial metaverse operation revolves around collecting, analyzing, and utilizing relevant data points.

# 3.4 Cloud-infrastructure and Cybersecurity

A fundamental layer of the metaverse framework includes the cloud infrastructure responsible for providing the computational power and storage necessary to create, simulate, and analyze the system on a massive scale. In this context, the Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS) model can be employed to handle the high computational power, storage, and network demands required by such applications. IaaS is a cloud computing model that provides virtualized computing resources over the internet, allowing one to rent computing resources as needed without the necessity for physical hardware investment or maintenance.

Such technologies offer, therefore, scalable computing power, high performance, and flexibility, ensuring that metaverse platforms can efficiently manage fluctuating user activity and complex data while focusing on delivering engaging experiences. Lastly, it is also important to highlight that achieving synchronization in power systems metaverses requires a balance between precision and computational efficiency. Developers must consider factors such as model complexity, synchronization accuracy, and computational resources to ensure that the metaverse application remains responsive to changes in the physical system.

The engine used for the development of the application may also offer features and frameworks for implementing multi-user experiences. For an industrial metaverse, multiple stakeholders may need to interact with the virtual environment simultaneously. In this sense, the networking capabilities of game engines can enable developers to create collaborative experiences where users can view and interact with the virtual environment together in real-time.

Nonetheless, although the communication layer enabled by OPC-UA and IEC 61850 already offers native security measures, including features like authentication, authorization, confidentiality, and data integrity, the cloud-based and interconnected nature of the industrial metaverse presents particular cybersecurity concerns. Integrating the metaverse platform with other systems, such as enterprise networks, may expand the attack surface, heightening the risk of cyber intrusions. Moreover, malicious actors may exploit vulnerabilities within interconnected systems to gain unauthorized access and launch coordinated attacks. Therefore, cybersecurity must be ingrained into every layer of the metaverse architecture to protect sensitive data, ensure operational continuity, and mitigate the risk of cyber threats and attacks. These include encryption methods to protect data at rest and in transit, robust access controls and authentication mechanisms to prevent unauthorized access, regular software updates and patches to address vulnerabilities, blockchain for immutable data recording, continuous monitoring for suspicious activities or anomalies, and incident response plans.

# Chapter 4

# Case Study

To validate the framework proposed in Chapter 3, this chapter presents a case study of the industrial metaverse application, considering a solar power plant located in the UFF Experimental Center of *Iguaba Grande*. The case study centers on providing a 3D virtual environment integrated with real-time data from the SCADA and fault detection systems. This educational application serves as a practical example of how the framework can be implemented, offering insights into its feasibility, effectiveness, and potential benefits. Moreover, as the solar power plant is in its initial design phases, a testbed, described in Section 4.3.1, is used to provide a controlled and adaptable testing environment for the system.

# 4.1 Case Study Specification

The solar power plant under analysis is presented in Fig. 4.1. It has a nominal power output of 150kW and operates with inverters that convert the generated Direct Current (DC) power from the solar panels to a primary Alternating Current (AC) voltage of 400/230V. The plant is designed to maximize energy capture and efficiency through the use of a tracker structure. It comprises three 50kW inverters (Sineng SN50PT) connected to the main distribution busbar, rated at 320A.

The inverters receive AC power from solar panels (Vertex TSM-DE21) arranged in strings, with each string composed of 20 panels rated at 660Wp. The AC output from each inverter is connected to the main busbar via 100A circuit breakers. This AC power is then routed through a bi-directional meter and protection devices before being stepped up to 13.8 kV for grid integration via a three-phase transformer.



Figure 4.1: Single-line diagram of the photovoltaic power plant

# 4.2 Methodology

The proposed methodology for the implementation of the case study follows a well-defined workflow comprising planning, project development, execution, and deployment stages, as presented in Fig. 4.2. During the planning phase, specific objectives were meticulously outlined, feasibility was thoroughly assessed, and resources were allocated in alignment with the project goals. For instance, although control and behavior modeling were desired features, it was not feasible to implement them due to resource and time constraints. This limitation was acknowledged, and the focus was placed on the other aspects.

Subsequently, the project development stage involved specialized contributions from each discipline. One team worked on the SCADA system, another on the 3D model of the power plant, and a third one on the fault detection system. It is important to acknowledge that the 3D model presented is still under development. For the current construction of the 3D scene, free online assets have been used. As a result, the positioning of key components such as the solar panels, trackers, inverters, transformer house, and weather



Figure 4.2: Metaverse project implementation process.

station may not accurately represent their real-world counterparts. The development team plans to address these discrepancies in future iterations of the model.

Moreover, details regarding the fault detection system, which is also in progress, are beyond the scope of this work. Given the above, this work focuses on demonstrating how these various modules can be integrated to create a modular metaverse application.

A refinement step follows, with the multidisciplinary team validating the entire project plan. Next, the execution phase begins with the practical implementation and development of the metaverse application. This phase involves coding, integrating various modules, and thorough testing to ensure the application meets all specified requirements.

Finally, the next steps involve transitioning the application into production and starting a continuous refinement workflow for iterative feedback and improvement. This stage is critical as it marks the application's entry into a real-world environment, where it must perform reliably and efficiently. Regular updates and maintenance are planned to address any issues and implement enhancements based on user feedback.

## 4.3 Industrial Metaverse Application Architecture

This section provides an overview of the architecture of the developed application, considering both hardware and software aspects. Subsection 4.3.1 presents the hardware requirements and the infrastructure of the testbed used to represent the actual solar power plant. Meanwhile, Subsection 4.3.2 presents the tools implemented to orchestrate data and visualization within the application.

### 4.3.1 Hardware

The development and digitization of physical photovoltaic power plants require a controlled and flexible environment for testing the system's design and infrastructure. To address this need, a testbed, serving as a surrogate of the power plant, is employed. This allows assessing and testing the industrial metaverse application before implementation in real-world settings.

A testbed consists of a combination of hardware and software that provides a controlled environment for conducting experiments. In this case study, an Intelligent Electronic Device (IED) is employed along with a relay test set to simulate power generation. An IED is a specialized microprocessor-based controller used to perform protective functions such as monitoring, control, and protection of electrical equipment and power lines. IEDs are also more sophisticated than traditional electromechanical relays since they offer features such as digital signal processing and support to the IEC 61850. Moreover, a relay test set is a specialized device used to generate controlled electrical signals and check how the relay responds.

Figure 4.3 presents the configuration of the employed testbed. In this testbed, the test set, an OMICRON CMC 356, is used to simulate the electrical output of the power plant. The IED Schweitzer Engineering Laboratories (SEL) 421, connected to the test set, receives and processes these signals as it would in a real-world scenario. In the following, communication between the IED and the SCADA system is enabled by an Ethernet switch, governed by the Manufacturing Message Specification (MMS) protocol of the IEC 61850 standard.



Figure 4.3: Topology of the testbed environment.

Once the direct communication between the IED and the computer is enabled, the SCADA system is configured to retrieve vital sensor readings, operational parameters, and status updates in real-time. Further details on the implementation of the SCADA system are presented in Section 4.4.1.1. Lastly, the digitized data is used within the industrial metaverse application, as further described in Section 4.4.

It is also important to highlight that the development of this case study required a robust computer setup capable of handling the computational, graphical, and dataintensive requirements to run the necessary software for developing the proposed industrial metaverse application. The computer setup used for this implementation included a multicore processor, Intel i7, 16 GB of RAM, a dedicated graphics card - NVIDIA GTX 1650, and an SSD with at least 50GB of free space.

### 4.3.2 Software

The development of the proposed application utilized a suite of software tools, as presented in Fig. 4.4. The software architecture is structured around the Elipse-based SCADA system collecting real-time data from the testbed, representing the actual power plant. Moreover, the fault detection system, enabled by a Python service, actively monitors the SCADA database, identifying anomalies and triggering alerts when necessary. Both the SCADA and fault detection systems transmit the data to the OPC-UA server, which is configured through Node-RED. The Unity application, set up as an OPC-UA client, subsequently receives real-time data and fault alerts, providing stakeholders with a virtual view of the system. In summary, the following tools and software are used in this case study:



Figure 4.4: Architecture of the industrial metaverse application.

- Elipse E3: A platform for creating SCADA systems. It acts as a central control hub for the solar power plant, collecting real-time data from sensors and providing an interface for monitoring the plant's operations.
- **Python:** The chosen programming language for developing the fault detection system. The decision to employ Python for the fault detection system is driven by its extensive libraries and support for ML, which provide significant advantages in developing advanced detection algorithms.
- Node-RED: An open-source flow-based development tool that facilitates communication between hardware devices, APIs, and online services. It is used to set up an OPC-UA server and also functions as a gateway for data integration and communication. The decision to use Node-RED stems from its widespread adoption in IoT applications, particularly those leveraging OPC-UA for communication.
- Unity: A game engine for creating 3D and 2D games, as well as interactive simulations. The final solution with Unity provides a scene of the power plant and an administrator panel. The decision to utilize the Unity game engine is based on its prevalence in related applications, as evidenced by the systematic literature review in Chapter 2.

• C#: The primary programming language for scripting within the Unity game development engine. It allows for handling user inputs and responding to dynamic changes in the virtual environment.

Furthermore, the **OMICRON Test Universe** is employed to inject data into the OMICRON CMC 356 test set. This allows various test procedures to be executed and further analysis of the measurement data. Finally, it is also worth mentioning that **Simulink** was employed in the fault detection mechanism to generate the training data.

# 4.4 Implementation Process

This section presents the main aspects of the practical implementation of the industrial metaverse application, explaining how the software and development tools described in Section 4.3 were employed to build the proposed solution. This section is divided as follows. Section 4.4.1 details the configuration of the real-time data communication layer and Section 4.4.2 explains the development process within the Unity game engine.

### 4.4.1 Real-time Data Communication Layer

The effective integration of real-time data from various sources within the application requires a robust communication layer that facilitates interoperability. To this end, a Node-RED application, presented in Fig. 4.5, was designed. The application works as an OPC-UA server and gateway for data ingestion and processing. This layer interfaces with critical data sources responsible for delivering real-time data, such as the SCADA and the Python fault detection system.

To set up the OPC-UA server within Node-RED, the node-red-contrib-opcua package was utilized. This package provides OPC-UA capabilities and nodes within Node-RED. Moreover, the configuration involved setting up the OPC-UA – Server node and further defining the port number and resource path where the server would listen. Security configurations could also be established at this stage; however, a formal security policy was not implemented for the purposes of this case study.

In the following, the data points from the SCADA system and the Python service were created in the OPC-UA server. Fig. 4.6 illustrates the hierarchical structure of the OPC-UA data points. Each data point, represented as a node, is configured with properties such as namespace, identifier, and data type. With the OPC-UA server already running,

#### 4.4 Implementation Process



Figure 4.5: Node-RED flow used to set up an OPC-UA server.



Figure 4.6: IEC 61850 data mapped into OPC-UA.

the Elipse-E3 SCADA and the fault detection systems are configured as OPC-UA clients responsible for sending data to the OPC-UA server. After subscribing to the relevant nodes, these systems respectively update the monitored variable values and send alerts whenever a faulty state is detected in one of the solar panel strings. Further details are presented in subsections 4.4.1.1 and 4.4.1.2.

#### 4.4.1.1 SCADA System

The foundation of the real-time data monitoring rests upon the SCADA system, which serves as the central hub for communication with the IED. The SCADA, built on Elipse E3, is grounded in adherence to the IEC 61850 standard and modeled using the functional hierarchy presented in Fig. 4.7. This hierarchy comprises (1) the Physical Device, which represents equipment with an associated network address; (2) the Logical Device allocated to the physical device; (3) the Logical Node, which represents a piece of equipment or function from the system; (4) the Data Object, which encapsulates specific sets of information and parameters; and (5) the Attribute, which is the data to be acquired and processed. This standardized approach ensures consistency and compatibility within the system architecture, facilitating integration between components from different vendors and simplifying data management.



Figure 4.7: Node modeling for the SCADA system.

Since the testbed is designed to simulate the values delivered after the DC output from the solar panels has been converted to AC by the inverters, this work focuses on integrating with the AC data and ensuring that the simulations accurately reflect the operational conditions that are most relevant for analyzing the output delivered to the grid. To this end, the following logical nodes were used in this case study:

- MMXU: Three-phase measurement data;
- MHAI: Harmonics and interharmonics;
- MSQI: Sequence and imbalance.

With the SCADA system modeled and running on Elipse E3, the Elipse E3 was configured to send node data to the OPC-UA server. To this end, an OPC-UA driver was created within Elipse E3 considering the appropriate associations to the IEC 61850 attributes, as presented in Fig. 4.8

	* <b></b>										
+ ×   🛎 🕨	• 🚡 📠 🍝	9									
Nome		ID do Item	ID	Varredura	Leitur	Escrit	Escala?	Mín	Máx	UE	Mín
= 🛄 OpcUa											
🗆 📟 Assina	itura1			1000							
🗆 🗀 Obj	ects										
E 🚞 N	MMXU										
	PhV										
	🥌 phsA	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	7		0	1		0
	📟 phsB	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	~		0	1		0
	📟 phsC	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	7		0	1		0
	A										
	📟 phsA	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	7		0	1		0
	📟 phsB	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	7		0	1		0
	📟 phsC	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	7		0	1		0
	PF										
	📟 phsA	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	7		0	1		0
	📟 phsB	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	7		0	1		0
	📟 phsC	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	7		0	1		0
	📕 Hz	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	7		0	1		0
=	W										
	📟 phsA	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	Α		7	7		0	1		0
	📟 phsB	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	Α		7	7		0	1		0
	💷 phsC	/Objects/2:IEC61850/2:MMXL	A		7	2		0	1		0
E 🚞 N	IAHM										

Figure 4.8: Design of the OPC-UA driver within Elipse E3

While IEC 61850 defines Logical Nodes, Data Objects, and Data Attributes for information modeling, OPC-UA usually defines Objects, Variables, and Methods to represent entities and relationships within a system. For example, in OPC-UA, MMXU/A/phsA, MMXU/A/phsB, and MMXU/A/phsC are mapped into separate Variables within a nested object representing MMXU/A, as presented in Fig. 4.9. This ensures that the hierarchical structure and relationships defined in IEC 61850 are maintained in OPC-UA, facilitating data integration and interoperability.

Finally, testing procedures using the OMICRON Test Universe were conducted to validate and provide input data for the SCADA system and, accordingly, for the OPC-UA server.

#### 4.4.1.2 Fault Detection System

To showcase the framework's versatility and underscore its potential to strengthen operational efficiency and reliability in real-world scenarios, integration with a fault detection system was performed. The system identifies three main types of faults in the DC side of the photovoltaic plant: open-circuit faults, short-circuit faults, and mismatch faults.



Figure 4.9: OPC-UA data modeling for IEC 61850 current values.

Open-circuit faults occur when a disconnection within the system interrupts the flow of electric current, potentially impacting anything from a single string of modules to the entire system. Short-circuit faults arise when a low-impedance path forms within the system, which can happen between module terminals, within a string, between distinct strings, or between a string and the ground. Lastly, mismatch faults are caused by significant differences in the electrical properties of cells or modules. These faults can be temporary, caused by factors such as dust accumulation, snow coverage, or shading. Nonetheless, they can also be permanent when there is degradation or physical damage to the cells and modules.

To achieve these functionalities, the Simulink software was used to simulate normal and fault scenarios and generate training data that includes electrical and environmental variables. The electrical variables include the current and voltage, while the environmental variables comprise the temperature, global solar irradiation, irradiation in the module plane, and reflected radiation. The training data has 100,000 samples, and a neural network with 2 hidden layers with 50 neurons was employed. Moreover, the Rectified Linear Unit (ReLU) activation function was implemented in the hidden layer and Softmax in the output layer. It is important to emphasize that the fault detection subsystem is an ongoing work, and a detailed discussion on its implementation falls outside the scope of this present work.

The fault detection subsystem utilizes data from the SCADA database to predict if a certain solar panel string is at fault. Lastly, an additional script connects to the OPC-UA server, hosted in Node-RED, and sends alarms based on the statuses of the solar panel strings. Once the communication with the OPC-UA server is established, the system continuously checks the status of the panels via the get\_string\_status. This function determines the status of each string based on a pre-defined probability. It returns a dictionary where keys represent different solar panel strings, and values indicate whether each string has a fault (True) or not (False). This process runs in an infinite loop, with a delay of one second between each check. In practice, whenever a change is detected in the new string status, a function responsible for sending alarms is invoked to send the updated values to the server.

Since the fault detection system is under development, the script enters an infinite loop, where checks are simulated via the get\_string\_status function, constantly generating a dictionary with boolean values. It is important to highlight, however, that this is done for demonstration and simulation purposes. In an actual application, events can react to specific changes in the monitored variables. Still, the integration of the Python application with the industrial metaverse application and OPC-UA server is still valid.

### 4.4.2 Unity Development

The user interface of the industrial metaverse application is built upon Unity, a game development engine integrated with C# scripting. Unity offers a wide range of functionalities, with key parts including the following:

- Scene: Allows visual construction of the simulation environment by placing and arranging objects (GameObjects) such as 3D models, terrain, cameras, lights, and other elements. It's the primary workspace for designing the spatial layout of the application. It also allows building user interfaces through canvas elements, such as text, images, and buttons.
- **Hierarchy:** Provides a hierarchical representation of all the objects currently in the scene. It shows the parent-child relationships between objects and can also be used to select and manipulate objects.
- **Inspector:** Shows detailed information about the currently selected object in the Hierarchy tab. It allows viewing and editing of various properties such as position, rotation, scale, attached scripts, materials, and additional options that define the object's behavior and appearance.
- Game: Provides a real-time preview of how the application will look and behave
when it's running. It facilitates debugging and testing, allowing to see the simulation as it would be presented to the end user.

• Console: Displays messages generated by scripts attached to GameObjects and Unity, such as errors, warnings, and debug logs.

The Unity interface, including the Scene, Hierarchy, Inspector, Game, and Console tabs, is presented in Fig. 4.10. Lastly, it is also worth mentioning that Unity scripts are written separately in C# (.cs files) and attached to GameObjects via the Unity Inspector. For example, Fig. 4.10 shows the Panel Status script attached to the ArrayStatus GameObject. Each script can encapsulate specific functionality, such as controlling movement, interactions, or other complex behaviors.



Figure 4.10: Interface of the Unity game engine.

The following sections dive deeper into the Unity scripts developed for this application and implementation details on the user interface. Moreover, the source code of the Unity application is publicly available on a GitHub repository  $^{1}$ .

#### 4.4.2.1 Simulation Scene

The simulation scene used as a representation of the photovoltaic plant is composed of 3D models, imported from Filmbox (FBX) files. These 3D models are encapsulated as GameObjects and are responsible for composing the "game" scene. As such, each GameObject represents a distinct element of the photovoltaic power plant, forming a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Available at https://github.com/FriendsLabUFF/industrial-metaverse

cohesive structure that mirrors the real-world. To create the scene, free assets from the Unity Asset Store<sup>2</sup>, as well as FBX files from Sketchfab<sup>3</sup> were employed.

In addition to the game scene, the metaverse application includes an administrator panel, which is built using Unity's Canvas. Canvas allows the placement of user interface elements like buttons, sliders, and input fields to build interface layouts. Moreover, C#scripts are employed to add functionality and handle user interaction within the game scene and administrator panel. The application includes the following panels: (1) realtime data from SCADA, (2) weather data from the OpenWeather APIs, (3) historical data from the system's database, (4) simulation panel, (5) single-line diagram representation of the system.

#### 4.4.2.2 C # Scripting

Through C# scripting, GameObjects can be animated to represent the behavior and real-time changes in the solar power plant's operation, acting as a bridge between the 3D models, the internet, and real-world data. These scripts can be implemented to continuously fetch and interpret data, dynamically modifying the visual elements of the administrator panel and 3D scene based on the received updates. For instance, changes in energy production, environmental conditions, or equipment status can be reflected in the virtual solar power plant through animations, color-coded indicators, and other visual cues.

The following scripts were developed for this case study to facilitate various functionalities and interactions within the system:

- OpcUaClientScript.cs Configures the connection with the OPC-UA server ensuring real-time data synchronization. It also updates the appropriate text GameObjects on the Canvas with the latest data.
- WeatherAPIConnection.cs Connects with the OpenWeather APIs. It retrieves and parses weather data and updates the corresponding text GameObjects on the Canvas.
- ImageChanger.cs Dynamically updates the weather panel image based on the current weather conditions obtained from the OpenWeather API.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Available at https://assetstore.unity.com/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Available at https://sketchfab.com/

- WindDirectionArrows.cs Fetches wind direction data from the OpenWeather API and updates the wind direction arrow accordingly.
- LightingManager.cs and LightingPreset.cs Responsible for changing the sun GameObject position according to the current hour.
- SliderMenu.cs, TabGroup.cs, and TabButton.cs Configure the interactive behaviors of the administrative slider panel, including changing tabs, and opening and closing the panel.
- DateAndTime.cs Retrieves the current date and time to display a real-time clock in the administrator panel.
- PanelStatus.cs Monitors the status of each panel via the OPC-UA integration with the fault detection system, changing the status indicator material to orange if a fault is detected, or green if the solar panel string is functioning correctly.
- HoverSystemTooltip.cs Enables tooltips for 3D objects, providing additional information upon hovering. For instance, hovering over a transformer presents detailed information about it.

Further details on the OPC-UA client and OpenWeather API communication are provided in the following.

**OPC-UA Client Configuration** To enable OPC-UA functionalities within Unity, first the OPC-UA .NET Standard library<sup>4</sup> provided by the OPC Foundation was added to the application's source code and the Opc.Ua.Core.dll, Opc.Ua.Client.dll, and Opc.Ua.Configuration.dll drivers were configured.

In the following, a C# script, using the OPC-UA drivers, was developed to handle the initialization and communication with the OPC-UA server. A session is created with the OPC-UA server, given the endpoint configured in Node-RED. In the following, the client subscribes to the desired nodes and reads their respective values, continuously monitoring them for any changes in data and ensuring real-time updates are received.

Lastly, after establishing communication with the necessary services and subscribing to the appropriate data points, the scripts parse the retrieved data into a format compatible with the application's components and GameObjects. The real-time synchronization

 $<sup>^4</sup>$ Available at https://github.com/OPCFoundation/UA-.NETStandard

enabled by the OPC-UA client ensures that the metaverse's representation of the photovoltaic power plant remains current and responsive to changes in the actual environment. This way, the metaverse application can stay dynamically connected to the operational reality, whether monitoring equipment status, tracking energy production, or adapting to external factors.

In summary, while the SCADA and fault detection system write data on the OPC-UA server, the OPC-UA client configured in Unity continually reads the data, updating text, materials, and behavior of the appropriate GameObjects.

**REST API Integration** Besides subscribing to real-time data, this case study integrates with OpenWeather services through their REST API to demonstrate the application's ability to integrate with additional services. Implementing this solution involves securely integrating Unity with the OpenWeather API, parsing JSON to extract relevant weather data, and applying this data dynamically to update scene elements. The application was configured to make HTTP requests to the OpenWeather API, specifically targeting endpoints that provide weather data relevant to the case study's location. Moreover, a series of data models, including temperature, humidity, wind speed, and other relevant weather parameters, were created to map the JSON response to the desired parameters within Unity.

# Chapter 5

## **Results and Analysis**

This chapter presents the results obtained from the case study, evaluating the effectiveness of the proposed framework in the context of a solar power plant. In the following, the practical benefits, challenges, and limitations identified during the case study are discussed, offering insights into the real-world applicability and potential improvements of the framework.

#### 5.1 User Interface

The visualization capabilities enabled by the Unity application were successfully implemented and enhanced the overall situational awareness. Users could navigate the 3D model, inspect components, and observe dynamic animations representing the operational state of the solar power plant. The video <sup>1</sup> depicts the application's functionality, illustrating both navigation within the virtual environment and real-time data update from the SCADA system.

Moreover, navigation within the application was facilitated through tooltips that appear when users hover over interactive elements, as presented in Fig. 5.1. These tooltips provide contextual information, guiding users through the power plant environment. Tooltips were added to elements such as the transformer, weather station, solar panels, and inverters.

Dynamic control of the sun's position through C# scripting further enhanced the visual realism of the scene by simulating real-world lighting conditions and time progression, as depicted in Fig. 5.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Available at https://youtu.be/p6e-o4nkpmA.



Figure 5.1: Metaverse navigation with tooltips being displayed to enhance situational awareness.



Figure 5.2: Dynamic lighting conditions based on the current time.

Concerning the administrative panel, interactions were also successfully implemented. Users could navigate between tabs and efficiently open and close the panel. The panel accurately displayed the current date and time, as well as real-time data from SCADA, fault statuses, and weather information. Additionally, it featured an alert icon that provided immediate notifications whenever a fault was detected, ensuring timely awareness and response to system issues.

### 5.2 Real-time Data Acquisition

The implementation of Node-RED as an OPC-UA server and gateway facilitated continuous updates and served as a centralized system for data collection, integrating data from both the SCADA and the fault detection systems.

The Unity OPC-UA client was successfully configured in the project, enabling communication with the OPC-UA server hosted in Node-RED. The integration was validated through successful read operations, depicted in Fig. 5.3, confirming that game engines, such as Unity, can be effectively used for this type of industrial application. This way, real-time data from the Elipse-based SCADA and fault detection system was effectively integrated, providing a continuous stream of information for analysis.



Figure 5.3: Metaverse interface presenting real-time data from the SCADA system, enabled by the OPC-UA communication layer.

### 5.3 SCADA

The SCADA system, operating under IEC 61850 standards, received power data injected by the Omicron Test Universe into the IED. These devices facilitated data transmission to the SCADA system, adhering to the IEC 61850 protocol specifications. Moreover, an OPC-UA driver, configured with appropriate associations to the IEC 61850 data model, interfaced with the OPC-UA server to relay this data.

Unity, functioning as an OPC-UA client, synchronized with the OPC-UA server to retrieve and display real-time operational data on the administrator panel. This integration successfully allowed the monitoring of critical power system metrics within the industrial metaverse application.

Moreover, latency measurements between OPC-UA and Unity were conducted to assess data transmission efficiency, revealing latency values ranging from 16 to 120 milliseconds, as presented in Fig. 5.4. These values reflect the time it took for data to travel from the server to the client, accounting for network transmission delays, processing times within the OPC-UA stack and Unity's internal processing overhead.

This analysis underscores the system's responsiveness in conveying real-time operational data from the SCADA system to the Unity application. The latency test involved recording timestamps at both the server and client sides to accurately determine the time delay in communication. The OPC-UA server is set to include timestamps with each value change notification. On the client side, a subscription is created for a monitored item, and when a notification is received, the timestamp from the server is extracted along with the current client timestamp.



Figure 5.4: Latency logs, comparing the server and client timestamps.

#### 5.4 Fault Detection System

The fault detection system, currently under development, utilizes a loop-based approach to periodically check the statuses of panel strings. The Python application updates the status of the panel strings at regular intervals and sends this data to the OPC-UA server, where Unity retrieves and processes it accordingly.

A latency analysis, depicted in Fig. 5.5, shows that data transmission between the Python application and Node-RED OPC-UA server averages between 2-5ms. This low latency ensures timely data updates and responsiveness within the fault detection system.

OPC UA       O TOP Un       ** debug       *	Rede-RED			✓ Deploy ▼		📓 🗮 🚺 iguaba-des-e-ia 🗸 🕫 main 🗸 🛛 Current File 🗸 🗅 🖒: 🔅 – 🗆
Image: State of the state	Ø Flow 1	OPC UA	Ø TCP Un 🕨 🕂 👻	🕆 debug i 🖉 🕸	• •	🗅 🥏 app.py 🔮 OpcClient.py × 😢 demo_config.yml 🛛 🌳 demo_utils.py
<ul> <li>Current State: { 'Array1: 'False', 'Array10: 'False', 'Array11: 'False', 'Ar</li></ul>	OPC UAserv ummig	Get timestamp		Tall nodes * 07/07/2024,23.39.38 node: OPC UA Debug Clam-connected: mga paylaat: stimg[27] 07/07/2024,23.39.44 node: OPC UA Debug mga paylaad: Object 9 (* message?upper: Variable*, variable/lawe: *2:&revg/status*, variable/lawe: errog/d51, timestat 2024-07-08102:39:44.3952* }	al V	<ul> <li>44 latency_ms = (end_time - start_time) * 1000 A5 ≤ 54 ^</li> <li>45 timestamp = datetime.now().isoformat()</li> <li>47 print(f*!(tiaetacy) - Alarm sent: {array_status}*')</li> <li>48 print(f*!(tiaetacy) - Alarm sent: {array_status}*')</li> <li>49 print(f*!(tiaetacy) - alarm sent: {array_status}*')</li> <li>49 print(f*!(tiaetacy) - alarm sent: {array_status}*')</li> <li>40 print(f*!tiaetacy) - alarm sent: {array_status}*')</li> <li>41 print(f*!tiaetacy) - alarms: [as*')</li> <li>42 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>43 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>44 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>44 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>45 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>45 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>46 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>47 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>48 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>49 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>49 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>40 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>40 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>40 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>41 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>41 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>42 print(f*!tiaetacy)</li> <li>42 fourent state: {'Array1': 'False', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'False', 'Ar</li></ul>
						29 Current State: {'Array1': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'False', 'Array10': 'False', 'Fals
P Current State: {'Array1': 'True', 'Array10': 'False', 'Array11': 'True', 'Array1	Q		() - O +			> 🔷 OpcClie VCS Initialization ————————————————————————————————————

Figure 5.5: Latency analysis showing data transmission between the Python application and Node-RED OPC-UA server.

Upon detecting a fault state, the system promptly displays a warning icon and triggers a popup notification specifying which panel strings are experiencing issues, as presented in Fig. 5.6. In addition, the system dynamically updates indicators next to each panel string. When a fault is detected, the indicator changes color to orange, providing immediate visual feedback. Conversely, the indicator remains green when no faults are present, providing intuitive status indications throughout the application.

#### 5.5 OpenWeather Data Integration

The integration with third-party HTTP APIs is exemplified through the utilization of the OpenWeather REST API, as presented in Fig. 5.7. This integration enables users to receive pertinent meteorological information specific to the solar power plant location.



Figure 5.6: Metaverse interface during a fault state. Animations are used to indicate the status of the solar panel strings.



Figure 5.7: Administrator panel within the metaverse application, displaying weather information obtained from the OpenWeather API.

Once the weather data is retrieved and parsed from the OpenWeather API, C# scripts dynamically update the administrator panel canvas to reflect current weather data.

It's important to note that this approach is tailored for discrete data exchanges rather than continuous streams. Unity applications using the OpenWeather API typically make periodic requests for updated weather information based on predefined intervals or specific events triggered within the simulation. This method ensures that the simulation remains responsive and aligned with real-time environmental changes without the overhead of continuous data streaming.

#### 5.6 Discussions and Study Limitations

The presented case study provides a metaverse platform where users can enter and interact with a 3D representation of the power plant using VR devices. While it integrates real-time data and external backend modules and provides a 3D scene, the application currently lacks the actual DTs of the power power plant's components, such as the solar panels, inverters, and transformer. To address this, it is essential to develop detailed digital models of these components that can respond to external events such as environmental changes, system faults, and user inputs. Incorporating DTs within the metaverse application will facilitate bidirectional control for remote monitoring and operation, enabling real-time interactions and adjustments based on the current state and performance of the physical components.

Moreover, the application of the industrial metaverse framework in this work was successful, demonstrating the system's modularity and its capability to integrate with external services, such as OpenWeather's REST API, and real-time data from SCADA and fault detection systems. The services, encapsulated as independent modules, can be added or modified without disrupting the core functionality, making the framework adaptable to evolving requirements and technological advancements. This modularity is a significant strength, as it allows for future expansions and integrations with other data sources.

The use of OPC-UA and IEC 61850 standards in this application underscores their importance for interoperability and the continuous digitalization of the grid. These protocols facilitate communication and data exchange between different system components. Their inclusion in the industrial metaverse framework not only ensures compatibility with existing systems but also future-proofs the application against miscellaneous standards. Additionally, the ability to integrate with REST APIs like OpenWeather demonstrates the flexibility of the framework to leverage various external data sources and enhance the application's functionality with a comprehensive view of the system being simulated.

Nonetheless, for the proposed application to achieve greater fidelity and scalability, areas for improvement were identified. Tests were conducted using a controlled testbed and a local internet setup, which provided a stable environment for initial validation. However, real-world deployment is necessary to fully understand the system's performance and scalability. For educational purposes within the university, the current setup may be sufficient, but broader application in actual power systems would require extensive field testing to ensure reliability and robustness under diverse and variable conditions.

Moreover, the 3D models used in this study were open-source assets, which, while functional, do not accurately represent the real-world power system components. Using 3D models based on actual physical counterparts would improve the realism and precision of the simulation, making the industrial metaverse more effective for both operational and educational purposes. Additionally, integrating real data with the 3D scene can also enhance the realism of the simulation. For example, detecting rainy weather through the OpenWeather API could trigger automatic updates to the scene within Unity. This could include visual effects like rain particles, changes in lighting conditions to reflect overcast skies, or adjustments to simulate wet surfaces.

Lastly, the implementation process itself proved to be complex and time-consuming, highlighting the need for a multidisciplinary approach. Developing an industrial metaverse for power systems involves expertise in various fields, including computer science, electrical engineering, and data analytics. Unity, the platform used for this development, is a powerful tool but comes with a steep learning curve. Moreover, the development required resource-intensive software and hardware configurations to handle the demands of 3D rendering and real-time data processing. This indicates the need for high investments in terms of time, expertise, and resources to achieve more advanced outcomes.

# Chapter 6

## Conclusions

This dissertation has explored the development and implementation of an industrial metaverse application in power systems, addressing several key gaps identified in the literature. The main contribution of this research lies in providing a specialized case study within the power systems domain, a field where industrial metaverse applications are relatively underexplored. Through a systematic literature review, it was evident that there is a significant need for detailed case studies that can serve as benchmarks for future research and development. This dissertation fills that gap by offering a comprehensive case study that not only demonstrates the practical application of industrial metaverses but also highlights the challenges and solutions encountered during the implementation process.

The case study detailed in this research involved integrating real-time data from a SCADA system, weather data via REST APIs, and implementing OPC-UA for interoperability. It provides a 3D virtual environment for users to interact with the solar power plant, including visual cues and dynamic lighting conditions based on real-time data. The administrator panel also provides users with real-time monitoring data, weather information, and fault notifications, demonstrating the application's practical utility. Moreover, tests conducted in a controlled testbed environment showed the system's robustness, though future real-world testing is recommended to further validate these findings.

Additionally, this research has introduced a modular approach and framework for developing industrial metaverse applications. This framework is designed to be flexible and scalable, allowing for easy integration with various external services and data sources. The modularity of the framework is a significant advancement, as it provides a structured methodology that can be adapted and extended for different use cases within the power systems sector. This aspect of the research addresses another critical gap in the literature, where comprehensive frameworks for industrial metaverse development are lacking. Another noteworthy contribution of this study is its emphasis on interoperability. By integrating standards such as OPC-UA and IEC 61850, the industrial metaverse application ensures seamless communication and data exchange between different system components. This focus on interoperability is crucial for the continuous digitalization of the grid, as it enables the integration of diverse technologies and systems.

As a result, the presented framework and case study serve as a catalyst for collaboration among students and faculty from diverse academic backgrounds and open avenues for further research in the development of industrial metaverse and DTs applications for solar power plants.

#### 6.1 Suggestions for Future Research

Future iterations of the case study presented in this work should focus on enhancing the industrial metaverse application to implement a multi-user and immersive experience. As a university-led initiative, this could provide a collaborative virtual environment for students and stakeholders to share knowledge and best practices, overcoming geographical barriers.

Moreover, integrating with other advanced capabilities, such as power forecasts and simulation capabilities, is also desirable. Lastly, addressing security concerns is paramount, necessitating improvements in cybersecurity measures. To this end, OPC-UA security policies should be further investigated.

# References

- [1] SILVESTRE, D.; FAVUZZA. S.; SANSEVERINO, М. L. E. R.; ZIZZO, G. How decarbonization, digitalization decentralization and are changing kev power infrastructures. Renewable and Sustainable En-93, 483 - 498, 2018.ISSN 1364-0321. Available ergy Reviews, v. р. at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032118304283">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032118304283</a>>.
- [2] GHENAI, C.; HUSEIN, L. A.; Al Nahlawi, M.; HAMID, A. K.; BETTAYEB, M. Recent trends of digital twin technologies in the energy sector: A comprehensive review. *Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments*, v. 54, p. 102837, 2022. ISSN 2213-1388. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2022.102837">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seta.2022.102837</a>>.
- [3] MA, Z. Energy metaverse: a virtual living lab of the energy ecosystem. Energy Informatics, Springer, v. 6, n. 1, p. 3, 2023. ISSN 2520-8942. Available at: <a href="https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s42162-023-00258-3">https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s42162-023-00258-3</a>>.
- [4] SOLMAN, H.; KIRKEGAARD, J. K.; SMITS, M.; Van Vliet, B.; BUSH, S. Digital twinning as an act of governance in the wind energy sector. *Environmental Science Policy*, v. 127, p. 272–279, 2022. ISSN 1462-9011. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1462901121003130">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1462901121003130</a>>.
- [5] RITTERBUSCH, G. D.; TEICHMANN, M. R. Defining the metaverse: A systematic literature review. *IEEE Access*, v. 11, p. 12368–12377, 2023. ISSN 2169-3536. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10035386">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10035386</a>>.
- ITPro-[6] KSHETRI, Ν. The economics of industrial the metaverse. fessional. v. 25, 1. 2023.ISSN 1941-045X. n. p. 84–88, Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10077813">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10077813</a>>.
- [7] GRIEVES, M. Digital twin: manufacturing excellence through virtual factory replication. White paper, v. 1, n. 2014, p. 1–7, 2014.
- [8] ANDERSON, J.; RAINIE, L. The metaverse in 2040. Pew Research Centre, v. 30, 2022. Available at: <a href="https://www.pewresearch.org">https://www.pewresearch.org</a>>.
- [9] BILLINGHURST, M.; CLARK, A.; LEE, G. A survey of augmented reality. Foundations and Trends in Human-Computer Interaction, v. 8, n. 2-3, p. 73–272, 2014. Available at: <a href="https://www.nowpublishers.com/article/Details/HCI-049">https://www.nowpublishers.com/article/Details/HCI-049</a>>.
- [10] DWIVEDI, Y. K.; HUGHES, L.; BAABDULLAH, A. M.; RIBEIRO-NAVARRETE, S.; GIANNAKIS, M.; AL-DEBEI, M. M.; DENNEHY, D.; METRI, B.; BUHALIS, D.; CHEUNG, C. M.; CONBOY, K.; DOYLE, R.; DUBEY, R.; DUTOT, V.; FE-LIX, R.; GOYAL, D.; GUSTAFSSON, A.; HINSCH, C.; JEBABLI, I.; JANSSEN, M.; KIM, Y.-G.; KIM, J.; KOOS, S.; KREPS, D.; KSHETRI, N.; KUMAR, V.;

OOI, K.-B.; PAPAGIANNIDIS, S.; PAPPAS, I. O.; POLYVIOU, A.; PARK, S.-M.; PANDEY, N.; QUEIROZ, M. M.; RAMAN, R.; RAUSCHNABEL, P. A.; SHIRISH, A.; SIGALA, M.; SPANAKI, K.; Wei-Han Tan, G.; TIWARI, M. K.; VIGLIA, G.; WAMBA, S. F. Metaverse beyond the hype: Multidisciplinary perspectives on emerging challenges, opportunities, and agenda for research, practice and policy. *International Journal of Information Management*, v. 66, p. 102542, 2022. ISSN 0268-4012. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0268401222000767">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0268401222000767</a>>.

- [11] GAO, J.; HUANG, H. Stochastic optimization for energy economics and renewable sources management: A case study of solar energy in digital twin. Solar Energy, v. 262, p. 111865, 2023. ISSN 0038-092X. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X2300498X">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X2300498X</a>>.
- [12] XU, J.; GONG, J. Novel sustainable urban management framework based on solar energy and digital twin. *Solar Energy*, v. 262, p. 111861, 2023. ISSN 0038-092X. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X23004942">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X23004942</a>>.
- [13] LI, Q.; CUI, Z.; CAI, Y.; SU, Y. Multi-objective operation of solar-based microgrids incorporating artificial neural network and grey wolf optimizer in digital twin. *Solar Energy*, v. 262, p. 111873, 2023. ISSN 0038-092X. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X23005066">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X23005066</a>>.
- [14] YUAN, G.; F. Digital twin-based XIE, economic assessment of solar energy smart microgrids using reinforcement learning technique. in250, p. 398–408, 2023.ISSN 0038-092X. Solar Energy, Available v. at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X22009021">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X22009021</a>>.
- YOU, L.; ZHU, M. Digital twin simulation for deep learning framework for predicting solar energy market load in trade-by-trade data. *Solar Energy*, v. 250, p. 388–397, 2023. ISSN 0038-092X. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.solener.2023.01.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.solener.2023.01.004</a>>.
- [16] MENG, F.; WANG, X. Digital twin for intelligent probabilistic short term load forecasting in solar based smart grids using shark algorithm. *Solar Energy*, v. 262, p. 111870, 2023. ISSN 0038-092X. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X23005030">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X23005030</a>>.
- [17] SEHRAWAT, N.; VASHISHT, S.; SINGH, A. Solar irradiance forecasting models using machine learning techniques and digital twin: A case study with comparison. *International Journal of Intelligent Networks*, v. 4, p. 90–102, 2023. ISSN 2666-6030. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2666603023000064">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2666603023000064</a>>.
- [18] JAIN, P.; POON, J.; SINGH, J. P.; SPANOS, C.; SANDERS, S. R.; PANDA, S. K. A digital twin approach for fault diagnosis in distributed photovoltaic systems. *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, v. 35, n. 1, p. 940–956, 2020. ISSN 1941-0107. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8692656">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8692656</a>>.
- BUHALIS, D.; LEUNG, D.; LIN, M. Metaverse as a disruptive technology revolutionising tourism management and marketing. *Tourism Management*, v. 97, p. 104724, 2023. ISSN 0261-5177. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2023.104724">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2023.104724</a>.

- [20] MONIRUZZAMAN, M.; YASSINE, A.; BENLAMRI, R. Blockchain and metaverse for peer-to-peer energy marketplace: Research trends and open challenges. In: IEEE. 2022 IEEE International Conference on Technology Management, Operations and Decisions (ICTMOD). 2022. p. 1–8. ISSN 2159-5119. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10041871">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10041871</a>>.
- [21] META. A Letter from Our Founders. October 2021. https://about.fb.com/news/ 2021/10/founders-letter/. Accessed on: April 22, 2023.
- [22] SIFAT, M. M. H.; CHOUDHURY, S. M.; DAS, S. K.; AHAMED, M. H.; MUYEEN, S.; HASAN, M. M.; ALI, M. F.; TASNEEM, Z.; ISLAM, M. M.; ISLAM, M. R.; BADAL, M. F. R.; ABHI, S. H.; SARKER, S. K.; DAS, P. Towards electric digital twin grid: Technology and framework review. *Energy and AI*, v. 11, p. 100213, 2023. ISSN 2666-5468. Available at: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2666546822000593>.
- [23] YU, W.; PATROS, P.; YOUNG, B.; KLINAC, E.; WALMSLEY, T. G. Energy digital twin technology for industrial energy management: Classification, challenges and future. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, v. 161, p. 112407, 2022. ISSN 1364-0321. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112407">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112407</a>>.
- TAO, F.; HU, T.; ANWER, N.; LIU, A.; WEI, Y.; |24| QI, Q.; WANG. A. Enabling technologies and tools for digital L.; NEE, twin. Journal of Manufacturing Systems, v. 58, p. 3–21, 2021.ISSN 0278-6125.Digtowards Smart Manufacturing and Industry Twin 4.0. Available ital at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S027861251930086X">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S027861251930086X</a>>.
- [25] KRITZINGER, W.; KARNER, M.; TRAAR, G.; HENJES, J.; SIHN, W. Digital twin in manufacturing: A categorical literature review and classification. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, v. 51, n. 11, p. 1016–1022, 2018. ISSN 2405-8963. 16th IFAC Symposium on Information Control Problems in Manufacturing INCOM 2018. Available at: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405896318316021>.
- [26] TAO, F.; LIU, W.; ZHANG, M.; HU, T.; QI, Q.; ZHANG, H.; SUI, F.; WANG, T.; XU, H.; HUANG, Z.; MA, X.; ZHANG, L.; CHENG, J.; YAO, N.; YI, W.; ZHU, K.; ZHANG, X.; MENG, F.; JIN, X.; LUO, Y. Five-dimension digital twin model and its ten applications. *Jisuanji Jicheng Zhizao Xitong/Computer Integrated Manufacturing Systems, CIMS*, v. 25, p. 1–18, 01 2019. Available at: <10.13196/j.cims.2019.01.001>.
- [27] AHELEROFF, S.; XU, X.; ZHONG, R. Y.; LU, Y. Digital twin as a service (dtaas) in industry 4.0: An architecture reference model. Advanced Engineering Informatics, v. 47, p. 101225, 2021. ISSN 1474-0346. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1474034620301944">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1474034620301944</a>>.
- [28] MILGRAM, P.; KISHINO, F. A taxonomy of mixed reality visual displays. *IEICE Transactions on Information and Systems*, The Institute of Electronics, Information and Communication Engineers, v. 77, n. 12, p. 1321–1329, 1994. ISSN 0916-8532. Available at: <a href="https://search.ieice.org/bin/summary.php?id=e77-d121321">https://search.ieice.org/bin/summary.php?id=e77-d121321</a>.

- [29] KARGANROUDI, S. S.; SILVA, E.; OUAZANI, Y.; AMINZADEH, A.; DIM-ITROVA, M.; IBRAHIM, H. A novel assembly process guidance using augmented reality for a standalone hybrid energy system. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, v. 122, p. 1–21, 09 2022. ISSN 3425–3445. Available at: <a href="https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00170-022-10122-5">https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00170-022-10122-5</a>>.
- [30] FURHT, B. Handbook of augmented reality. Springer Science & Business Media, 2011. Available at: <a href="https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-1-4614-0064-6">https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-1-4614-0064-6</a>>.
- [31] ANTONIJEVIć, M.; SUčIć, S.; KESERICA, H. Augmented reality for substation automation by utilizing IEC 61850 communication. In: 2016 39th International Convention on Information and Communication Technology, Electronics and Microelectronics (MIPRO). [s.n.], 2016. p. 316–320. ISBN 978-953-233-086-1. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7522159">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7522159</a>>.
- [32] ANTONIJEVIć, M.; SUčIć, S.; KESERICA, H. Augmented reality applications for substation management by utilizing standards-compliant SCADA communication. *Energies*, v. 11, n. 3, 2018. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/11/3/599">https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/11/3/599</a>>.
- [33] YIM, H. B.; SEONG, P. H. Heuristic guidelines and experimental evaluation of effective augmented-reality based instructions for maintenance in nuclear power plants. *Nuclear Engineering and Design*, v. 240, n. 12, p. 4096–4102, 2010. ISSN 0029-5493. The 6th Japan-Korea Symposium on Nuclear Thermal Hydraulics and Safety - NTHAS6 Special Section. Available at: <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0029549310006266>.
- [34] LALIK, K.; WąTOREK, F. Predictive maintenance neural control algorithm for defect detection of the power plants rotating machines using augmented reality goggles. *Energies*, v. 14, n. 22, 2021. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/14/22/7632">https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/14/22/7632</a>>.
- [35] OUFQIR, Z.; ABDERRAHMANI, A. E.; SATORI, K. From marker to markerless in augmented reality. In: BHATEJA, V.; SATAPATHY, S. C.; SATORI, H. (Ed.). *Embedded Systems and Artificial Intelligence*. Singapore: Springer Singapore, 2020. p. 599–612. ISBN 978-981-15-0947-6. Available at: <a href="https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-981-15-0947-657">https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-981-15-0947-6</a>.
- [36] ANGRISANI, L.; BONAVOLONTà, F.; LICCARDO, A.; MORIELLO, R. S. L.; SERINO, F. Smart power meters in augmented reality environment for electricity consumption awareness. *Energies*, v. 11, n. 9, 2018. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/11/9/2303">https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/11/9/2303</a>>.
- [37] QIAN, K.; ZHAO, W.; LI, K.; MA, X.; YU, H. Visual SLAM with BoPLW pairs using egocentric stereo camera for wearable-assisted substation inspection. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, v. 20, n. 3, p. 1630–1641, 2020. ISSN 1558-1748. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8868098">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8868098</a>>.
- [38] JUNIOR, C. d. L. B.; CARDOSO, A.; JÚNIOR, E. A. L.; SILVA, P. C.; SILVA, A. C. Designing virtual reality environments through an authoring system based on cad floor plans: A methodology and case study applied to electric power substations

for supervision. *Energies*, MDPI, v. 14, n. 21, p. 7435, 2021. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/14/21/7435>.

- [39] HAGHSHENAS, A.; HASAN, A.; OSEN, O.; MIKALSEN, E. Predictive digital twin for offshore wind farms. *Energy Informatics*, v. 6, n. 1, 2023. ISSN 2520-8942. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s42162-023-00257-4">https://doi.org/10.1186/s42162-023-00257-4</a>>.
- [40] ROBLEDO, J.; LELOUX, J.; LORENZO, E.; GUEYMARD, C. A. From video games to solar energy: 3d shading simulation for PV using GPU. Solar Energy, v. 193, p. 962–980, 2019. ISSN 0038-092X. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X19309168">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X19309168</a>>.
- [41] GAUCE, D.; LEKTAUERS, A.; SOLOVJOVA, I.; GRANTS, R.; KOLOSOVS, D.; LITVINENKO, A. Application of digital twin in medium-voltage overhead distribution network inspection. *Remote Sensing*, v. 15, n. 2, 2023. ISSN 2072-4292. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2072-4292/15/2/489">https://www.mdpi.com/2072-4292/15/2/489</a>>.
- [42] FERNANDES, S. V.; JOãO, D. V.; CARDOSO, B. B.; MARTINS, M. A. I.; CARVALHO, E. G. Digital twin concept developing on an electrical distribution system - an application case. *Energies*, v. 15, n. 8, 2022. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/15/8/2836">https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/15/8/2836</a>>.
- [43] ARRAñO-VARGAS, F.; KONSTANTINOU, G. Modular design and real-time simulators toward power system digital twins implementation. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, v. 19, n. 1, p. 52–61, 2023. ISSN 1941-0050. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9784425">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9784425</a>>.
- [44] LI, Y.; SHEN, X.; ZHOU, C. Dynamic multi-turbines spatiotemporal correlation model enabled digital twin technology for real-time wind speed prediction. *Renewable Energy*, v. 203, p. 841–853, 2023. ISSN 0960-1481. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960148122019176">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960148122019176</a>>.
- [45] HEUSER, S.; CANO, L. A. G.; EYRICH, W.; PIZARRO, F. Digital twin, simulation BIM and virtual reality models for substation lifecycle in engineering, operation, asset management maintenance. In: 2022 IEEE PES Generation, Transmission and Distribution Conference and Exposition – Latin America (IEEE PES GTD Latin America). [s.n.], 2022. p. 1–6. ISBN 979-8-3503-4605-3. Available at: <https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10038293/>.
- [46] FLAMINI, A.; LOGGIA, R.; MASSACCESI, A.; MOSCATIELLO, C.; MARTIRANO, L. BIM and SCADA integration: the dynamic digital twin. In: 2022 IEEE/IAS 58th Industrial and Commercial Power Systems Technical Conference (ICPS). [s.n.], 2022. p. 1–7. ISSN 2158-4907. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9773903">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9773903</a>>.
- [47] PARGMANN, H.; EUHAUSEN, D.; FABER, R. Intelligent big data processing for wind farm monitoring and analysis based on cloud-technologies and digital twins: A quantitative approach. In: 2018 IEEE 3rd International Conference on Cloud Computing and Big Data Analysis (ICCCBDA). [s.n.], 2018. p. 233–237. Available at: <https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8386518>.

- [48] LIU, J.; LU, X.; ZHOU, Y.; CUI, J.; WANG, S.; ZHAO, Z. Design of photovoltaic power station intelligent operation and maintenance system based on digital twin. In: 2021 6th International Conference on Robotics and Automation Engineering (ICRAE). [s.n.], 2021. p. 206–211. ISSN 1615-5270. Available at: <https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10207-023-00784-x>.
- [49] BISHOP, I. D.; STOCK, C. Using collaborative virtual environments to plan wind energy installations. *Renewable Energy*, v. 35, n. 10, p. 2348–2355, 2010. ISSN 0960-1481. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2010.04.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2010.04.003</a>>.
- [50] CHILUISA, M. G.; MULLO, R. D.; ANDALUZ, V. H. Training in virtual environments for hybrid power plant. In: BEBIS, G.; BOYLE, R.; PARVIN, B.; KO-RACIN, D.; TUREK, M.; RAMALINGAM, S.; XU, K.; LIN, S.; ALSALLAKH, B.; YANG, J.; CUERVO, E.; VENTURA, J. (Ed.). Advances in Visual Computing. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018. p. 193–204. ISBN 978-3-030-03801-4. Available at: <a href="https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-03801-4\_18">https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-03801-4\_18</a>>.
- [51] JIA, G.; JINGHAI, X.; MI, S.; DONGYU, S.; TAO, W.; YOUHANG, Y.; SHAORONG, W. Substation digital twin framework design and key technology research. In: 2022 IEEE 3rd China International Youth Conference on Electrical Engineering (CIYCEE). [s.n.], 2022. p. 1–8. ISBN 978-1-6654-7732-1. Available at: <https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9958999>.
- [52] AGOSTINELLI, S.; CUMO, F.; NEZHAD, M. M.; ORSINI, G.; PIRAS, G. Renewable energy system controlled by open-source tools and digital twin model: Zero energy port area in italy. *Energies*, v. 15, n. 5, 2022. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/15/5/1817">https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/15/5/1817</a>>.
- [53] LIZCANO, P. E.; MANCHADO, C.; GOMEZ-JAUREGUI, V.; OTERO, C. Virtual reality to assess visual impact in wind energy projects. In: SPRINGER. Advances on Mechanics, Design Engineering and Manufacturing: Proceedings of the International Joint Conference on Mechanics, Design Engineering & Advanced Manufacturing (JCM 2016), 14-16 September, 2016, Catania, Italy. 2017. p. 717–725. ISSN 2195-4364. Available at: <a href="https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-45781-972">https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-45781-972</a>>.
- [54] BERNAL, I. F. M.; LOZANO-RAMÍREZ, N. E.; CORTÉS, J. M. P.; VALDIVIA, S.; MUÑOZ, R.; ARAGÓN, J.; GARCÍA, R.; HERNÁNDEZ, G. An immersive virtual reality training game for power substations evaluated in terms of usability and engagement. *Applied Sciences*, Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, v. 12, n. 2, p. 711, 2022. ISSN 2076-3417. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3417/12/2/711">https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3417/12/2/711</a>>.
- [55] LEE, H.; CHA, W. C. Virtual reality-based ergonomic modeling and evaluation framework for nuclear power plant operation and control. *Sustainability*, MDPI, v. 11, n. 9, p. 2630, 2019. ISSN 2071-1050. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/11/9/2630">https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/11/9/2630</a>>.
- [56] TATIć, D.; TEšIć, B. The application of augmented reality technologies for the improvement of occupational safety in an industrial environment. *Computers in Industry*, v. 85, p. 1–10, 2017. ISSN 0166-3615. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166361516302718">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166361516302718</a>>.

- [57] GOMES, D. L.; PAIVA, A. C. de; SILVA, A. C.; BRAZ, G.; ALMEIDA, J. D. S. de; ARAúJO, A. S. de; GATTAS, M. Augmented visualization using homomorphic filtering and haar-based natural markers for power systems substations. *Computers in Industry*, v. 97, p. 67–75, 2018. ISSN 0166-3615. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166361516302019">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166361516302019</a>>.
- [58] GOMES, D. L.; dos Reis, P. R. J.; de Paiva, A. C.; SILVA, A. C.; BRAZ, G.; de Araújo, A. S.; GATTASS, M. Semi-automatic methodology for augmented panorama development in industrial outdoor environments. *Advances in Engineering Software*, v. 114, p. 282–294, 2017. ISSN 0965-9978. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0965997817300108">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0965997817300108</a>>.
- [59] MATTIOLI, L.; CARDOSO, A.; LAMOUNIER, E. 2D–3D spatial registration for remote inspection of power substations. *Energies*, v. 13, n. 23, 2020. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/13/23/6209">https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/13/23/6209</a>>.
- [60] LIU, Y.; YANG, S.; GUAN, W.; HAN, Z.; QIAN, Y. Design of ar inspection system for protection equipment of intelligent substation. In: EDP SCIENCES. *E3S Web of Conferences.* 2020. v. 185, p. 01036. ISSN 2267-1242. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202018501036">https://doi.org/10.1051/e3sconf/202018501036</a>>.
- [61] CHOU, C.-C.; CHIANG, C.-T.; WU, P.-Y.; CHU, C.-P.; LIN, C.-Y. Spatiotemporal analysis and visualization of power consumption data integrated with building information models for energy savings. *Resources, Conserva*tion and Recycling, v. 123, p. 219–229, 2017. ISSN 0921-3449. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0921344916300428">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0921344916300428</a>>.
- [62] SERMET, M. Y.; DEMIR, I.; KUCUKSARI, S. Overhead power line sag monitoring through augmented reality. In: 2018 North American Power Symposium (NAPS). [s.n.], 2018. p. 1–5. ISBN 978-1-5386-7138-2. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8600565">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8600565</a>>.
- ERICSON, J. D.; BROUGHEL, A. E.; BERNARD. [63] CRANMER, A.; PODOLSKI, M. Worth a thousand words: ROBICHEAUX, E.; B.; Presenting wind turbines in virtual reality reveals new opportunities for soand visualization research. cial acceptance Energy research  $\mathscr{E}$ social sci-Elsevier, 101507,2020. ISSN 2214-6326. Available ence, v. 67,р. at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S2214629620300840">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S2214629620300840</a>>.
- [64] YU, T.; BEHM, H.; BILL, R.; KANG, J. Audio-visual perception of new wind parks. Landscape and Urban Planning, v. 165, p. 1–10, 2017. ISSN 0169-2046. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169204617300932">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169204617300932</a>>.
- [65] JOÃO, D. V.; LODETTI, P. Z.; SANTOS, A. B. dos; MARTINS, M. A. I.; ALMEIDA, J. F. B.; CHAVES, D. M. da S. Virtual reality training in electric utility sector - an underground application study case. In: 2020 Intermountain Engineering, Technology and Computing (IETC). [s.n.], 2020. p. 1–6. ISBN 978-1-7281-4291-3. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9249216">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9249216</a>>.

- [66] AVVEDUTO, G.; TANCA, C.; LORENZINI, C.; TECCHIA, F.; CARROZZINO, M.; BERGAMASCO, M. Safety training using virtual reality: A comparative approach. In: SPRINGER. Augmented Reality, Virtual Reality, and Computer Graphics: 4th International Conference, AVR 2017, Ugento, Italy, June 12-15, 2017, Proceedings, Part I 4. 2017. p. 148–163. ISBN 978-3-319-60922-5. Available at: <https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-60922-5\_11>.
- [67] OSPINA-BOHóRQUEZ, A.; LóPEZ-REBOLLO, J.; MUñOZ-SáNCHEZ, P.; GONZáLEZ-AGUILERA, D. A digital twin for monitoring the construction of a wind farm. *Infrastructures*, v. 8, n. 1, 2023. ISSN 2412-3811. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2412-3811/8/1/10">https://www.mdpi.com/2412-3811/8/1/10</a>>.
- [68] REHMAN, U.; CAO, S. Comparative evaluation of augmented reality-based assistance for procedural tasks: a simulated control room study. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, Taylor Francis, v. 39, n. 11, p. 1225–1245, 2020. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2019.1660805">https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2019.1660805</a>>.
- [69] EDWARDS, C.; MORALES, D. L.; HAAS, C.; NARASIMHAN, S.; CASCANTE, G. Digital twin development through auto-linking to manage legacy assets in nuclear power plants. *Automation in Construction*, v. 148, p. 104774, 2023. ISSN 0926-5805. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0926580523000341">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0926580523000341</a>>.
- [70] JIANG, J.; YANG, Z.; WU, C.; GUO, Y.; YANG, M.; FENG, W. A compatible detector based on improved YOLOv5 for hydropower device detection in ar inspection system. *Expert Systems with Applications*, v. 225, p. 120065, 2023. ISSN 0957-4174. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0957417423005675">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0957417423005675</a>>.
- [71] NI, P.; YE, Z.; CAO, C.; GUO, Z.; ZHAO, J.; HE, X. Cooperative game-based collaborative optimal regulation-assisted digital twins for wide-area distributed energy. *Energies*, v. 16, n. 6, 2023. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/16/6/2598">https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/16/6/2598</a>>.
- [72] HE, Q.; WU, M.; LIU, C.; JIN, D.; ZHAO, M. Management and real-time monitoring of interconnected energy hubs using digital twin: Machine learning based approach. *Solar Energy*, v. 250, p. 173–181, 2023. ISSN 0038-092X. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X22009227">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X22009227</a>>.
- F.; [73] CHENG, Т.; ZHU, Х.; YANG, WANG, W. Machine learnenabled learning based optimization algorithm indigital  $\operatorname{twin}$ siming ulator for management of smart islanded solar-based microgrids. So-2023. ISSN 0038-092X. lar Energy, 250,241 - 247, Available v. p. at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X22009203">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038092X22009203</a>>.
- [74] FATHY, Y.; JABER, M.; NADEEM, Z. Digital twin-driven decision making and planning for energy consumption. *Journal of Sensor and Actuator Networks*, v. 10, n. 2, 2021. ISSN 2224-2708. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2224-2708/10/2/37">https://www.mdpi.com/2224-2708/10/2/37</a>>.
- [75] ZEITOUNI, M. J.; PARVARESH, A.; ABRAZEH, S.; MOHSENI, S.-R.; GHEIS-ARNEJAD, M.; KHOOBAN, M.-H. Digital twins-assisted design of next-generation advanced controllers for power systems and electronics: Wind turbine as a case study. *Inventions*, v. 5, n. 2, 2020. ISSN 2411-5134. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2411-5134/5/2/19>">https://www.mdpi.com/2411-5134/5/2/19>">https://www.mdpi.com/2411-</a>

- [76] LEI, Z.; ZHOU, H.; HU, W.; LIU, G.-P.; GUAN, S.; FENG, X. Toward a web-based digital twin thermal power plant. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics*, v. 18, n. 3, p. 1716–1725, 2022. ISSN 1941-0050. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9446630">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9446630</a>>.
- [77] GUO, Z.; YE, Z.; NI, P.; CAO, C.; WEI, X.; ZHAO, J.; HE, X. Intelligent digital twin modelling for hybrid PV-SOFC power generation system. *Energies*, v. 16, n. 6, 2023. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/16/6/2806">https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/16/6/2806</a>>.
- [78] GARCÍA, A. A.; BOBADILLA, I. G.; FIGUEROA, G. A.; RAMÍREZ, M. P.; ROMÁN, J. M. Virtual reality training system for maintenance and operation of highvoltage overhead power lines. *Virtual Reality*, Springer, v. 20, p. 27–40, 2016. ISSN 1434-9957. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-015-0280-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-015-0280-6</a>>.
- [79] GALVAN-BOBADILLA, I.; AYALA-GARCIA, A.; RODRIGUEZ-GALLEGOS, E.; ARROYO-FIGUEROA, G. Virtual reality training system for the maintenance of underground lines in power distribution system. In: IEEE. *Third International Conference on Innovative Computing Technology (INTECH 2013)*. 2013. p. 199–204. ISBN 978-1-4799-0048-0. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6653713">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/6653713</a>>.
- [80] SOUSA, M. P. A. D.; FILHO, M. R.; NUNES, M. V. A.; LOPES, A. da C. Maintenance and operation of a hydroelectric unit of energy in a power system using virtual reality. *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems*, Elsevier, v. 32, n. 6, p. 599–606, 2010. ISSN 1879-3517. Available at: <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijepes.2009.11.016>.
- [81] BAYER, D.; PRUCKNER, M. A digital twin of a local energy system based on real smart meter data. *Energy Informatics*, v. 6, n. 1, p. 1–26, 2023. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s42162-023-00263-6">https://doi.org/10.1186/s42162-023-00263-6</a>>.
- [82] MA, L.; ZHOU, L.; ZHANG, X.; XIONG, C.; LIAO, X.; SUN, L. Research on power grid infrastructure project intelligent management platform based on digital twin technology. In: 2022 IEEE 2nd International Conference on Power, Electronics and Computer Applications (ICPECA). [s.n.], 2022. p. 1122–1128. ISBN 978-1-6654-4276-3. Available at: <10.1109/ICPECA53709.2022.9719275>.
- [83] PARK, H.-A.; BYEON, G.; SON, W.; JO, H.-C.; KIM, J.; KIM, S. Digital twin for operation of microgrid: Optimal scheduling in virtual space of digital twin. *Ener*gies, v. 13, n. 20, 2020. ISSN 1996-1073. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/13/20/5504">https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/13/20/5504</a>>.
- WANG, Y. Digital power grid based on digital Def-|84| BAI, H.; twin: structure and key technologies. Energy Reports, 8, 390 inition, v. p. 397, 2022. ISSN 2352-4847. Selected papers from 2022Interna-7th Conference on Clean Energy tional on Advances Research. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352484722022612">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352484722022612</a>>.
- [85] JUNIOR, D. J. d. C.; COSTA, C. I. d. A.; CAMPOS, R. B. d. A.; BONALDI, E. L.; ASSUNÇÃO, F. d. O.; LAMBERT-TORRES, G.; FARIAS, R. S. d.; ROSSETTO, R. R.; JESUS, A. A. G. d. Virtual reality applied in a thermoelectric power plant planning. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, SciELO Brasil, v. 64, 2022. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4324-2021210138">https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4324-2021210138</a>>.

- [86] SHAMSUZZOHA, A.; TOSHEV, R.; TUAN, V. V.; KANKAANPAA, T.; HELO, P. Digital factory – virtual reality environments for industrial training and maintenance. *Interactive Learning Environments*, Routledge, v. 29, n. 8, p. 1339–1362, 2021. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1628072">https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1628072</a>>.
- [87] MASIELLO, I.; HERAULT, R.; MANSFELD, M.; SKOGQVIST, M. Simulationbased VR training for the nuclear sector - a pilot study. *Sustainability*, v. 14, n. 13, 2022. ISSN 2071-1050. Available at: <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/14/13/7984">https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/14/13/7984</a>>.
- [88] HUANG, W.; ZHANG, Y.; ZENG, W. Development and application of digital twin technology for integrated regional energy systems in smart cities. *Sustainable Computing: Informatics and Systems*, v. 36, p. 100781, 2022. ISSN 2210-5379. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210537922001123">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2210537922001123</a>.
- [89] YOU, M.; WANG, Q.; SUN, H.; CASTRO, I.; JIANG, J. Digital twins based day-ahead integrated energy system scheduling under load and renewable energy uncertainties. *Applied Energy*, v. 305, p. 117899, 2022. ISSN 0306-2619. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261921012125">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261921012125</a>>.
- [90] CASSOLA, F.; MENDES, D.; PINTO, M.; MORGADO, L.; COSTA, S.; AN-JOS, L.; MARQUES, D.; ROSA, F.; MAIA, A.; TAVARES, H.; COELHO, A.; PAREDES, H. Design and evaluation of a choreography-based virtual reality authoring tool for experiential learning in industrial training. *IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies*, v. 15, n. 5, p. 526–539, 2022. ISSN 1939-1382. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9729617">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9729617</a>>.
- [91] CHETAN, M.; YAO, S.; GRIFFITH, D. T. Multi-fidelity digital twin structural model for a sub-scale downwind wind turbine rotor blade. *Wind En*ergy, Wiley Online Library, v. 24, n. 12, p. 1368–1387, 2021. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/we.2636">https://doi.org/10.1002/we.2636</a>>.
- [92] ERTEN, B.; ORAL, B.; YAKUT, M. Z. The role of virtual and augmented reality in occupational health and safety training of employees in PV power systems and evaluation with a sustainability perspective. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, v. 379, p. 134499, 2022. ISSN 0959-6526. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652622040719">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959652622040719</a>>.
- [93] NGUYEN, T. N.; PONCIROLI, R.; BRUCK, P.; ESSELMAN, T. C.; RIGATTI, J. A.; VILIM, R. B. A digital twin approach to system-level fault detection and diagnosis for improved equipment health monitoring. *Annals of Nuclear Energy*, v. 170, p. 109002, 2022. ISSN 0306-4549. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306454922000378">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306454922000378</a>>.
- [94] XU, B.; WANG, J.; WANG, X.; LIANG, Z.; CUI, L.; LIU, X.; KU, A. Y. A case study of digital-twin-modelling analysis on power-plant-performance optimizations. *Clean Energy*, v. 3, n. 3, p. 227–234, 11 2019. ISSN 2515-4230. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/ce/zkz025">https://doi.org/10.1093/ce/zkz025</a>>.
- [95] Azraff Bin Rozmi, M. D.; THIRUNAVUKKARASU, G. S.; JAMEI, E.; SEYEDMAHMOUDIAN, M.; MEKHILEF, S.; STOJCEVSKI, A.; HORAN, B. Role of immersive visualization tools in renewable energy system development. *Renewable*

and Sustainable Energy Reviews, v. 115, p. 109363, 2019. ISSN 1364-0321. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032119305714">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032119305714</a>>.

- [96] ZHANG, C.; LIU, S. Meta-energy: When integrated energy internet meets metaverse. *IEEE/CAA Journal of Automatica Sinica*, v. 10, n. 3, p. 580–583, 2023. ISSN 2329-9274. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10057177">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10057177</a>>.
- [97] SUN, C.; CAO, J.; HUO, R.; DU, L.; CHENG, X. Metaverse applications in energy internet. In: 2022 IEEE International Conference on Energy Internet (ICEI). [s.n.], 2022. p. 7–12. ISBN 978-1-6654-9327-7. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10097373">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/10097373</a>>.
- [98] DENG, Y.; WENG, Z.; ZHANG, T. Metaverse-driven remote management solution for scene-based energy storage power stations. *Evolution*ary Intelligence, Springer, p. 1–12, 2022. ISSN 1864-5917. Available at: <a href="https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12065-022-00769-0">https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12065-022-00769-0</a>>.
- [99] PEREZ-RAMIREZ, M.; ARROYO-FIGUEROA, G.; AYALA, A. The use of a virtual reality training system to improve technical skill in the maintenance of live-line power distribution networks. *Interactive Learning Environments*, Taylor & Francis, v. 29, n. 4, p. 527–544, 2021. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1587636">https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2019.1587636</a>>.
- [100] AYELLO, M.; LOPES, Y. Interoperability based on IEC 61850 standard: Systematic literature review, certification method proposal, and case study. *Electric Power Systems Research*, v. 220, p. 109355, 2023. ISSN 0378-7796. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378779623002444">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378779623002444</a>>.
- 101 BUSBOOM, А. Automated generation of OPC UA information modelsa review and outlook. Journal of Industrial Information In-39, 100602,2024.ISSN 2452-414X. Available tearation. v. p. at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2452414X24000463">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2452414X24000463</a>>.
- [102] CAVALIERI, S.; REGALBUTO, A. Integration of IEC 61850 SCL and OPC UA to improve interoperability in smart grid environment. *Computer Standards Interfaces*, v. 47, p. 77–99, 2016. ISSN 0920-5489. Available at: <a href="https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0920548915001208">https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0920548915001208</a>>.
- [103] ANDALUZ, V. H.; CHICAIZA, F. A.; GALLARDO, C.; QUEVEDO, W. X.; VARELA, J.; SÁNCHEZ, J. S.; ARTEAGA, O. Unity3D-MatLab simulator in real time for robotics applications. In: SPRINGER. Augmented Reality, Virtual Reality, and Computer Graphics: Third International Conference, AVR 2016, Lecce, Italy, June 15-18, 2016. Proceedings, Part I 3. 2016. p. 246–263. ISSN 0302-9743. Available at: <https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-40621-3<sub>1</sub>9>.
- [104] SZALAI, M.; VARGA, B.; TETTAMANTI, T.; TIHANYI, V. Mixed reality test environment for autonomous cars using unity 3d and sumo. In: 2020 IEEE 18th World Symposium on Applied Machine Intelligence and Informatics (SAMI). [s.n.], 2020. p. 73–78. ISBN 978-1-7281-3149-8. Available at: <a href="https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9108745">https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9108745</a>>.

[105] LIU, W.; LI, X.; SHEN, Z.; MA, C. A digital twin method for civil aircraft power distribution system based on Unity3D and Simulink. In: IOP PUBLISHING. *Journal* of Physics: Conference Series. 2023. v. 2615, n. 1, p. 012017. ISSN 1742-6596. Available at: <a href="https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1742-6596/2615/1/012017">https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1742-6596/2615/1/012017</a>>.